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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Financial Statements
 

NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Balance Sheets

 

 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

Assets   
Current assets:   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,364,197 $ 5,226,213 
Accounts receivable, net 457,033 334,297 
Inventories 1,029,154 1,051,282 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 180,838 478,074 

Total current assets 10,031,222 7,089,866 

Fixed assets, net 187,256 183,494 
Right to use asset 522,131 692,692 
Other long-term assets 28,284 28,523 

Total assets $ 10,768,893 $ 7,994,575 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity   
Current liabilities:   

Accounts payable $ 289,760 $ 142,316 
Accrued expenses and compensation 790,427 998,442 
Accrued product returns 45,000 545,000 
Lease obligation, current 457,682 599,632 

Total current liabilities 1,582,869 2,285,390 

Lease obligation, net of current portion 350,895 461,410 
Total liabilities 1,933,764 2,746,800 

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:   
Preferred stock — — 
Convertible preferred stock 1 1 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020; 5,046,198 and 3,793,739 shares
issued and outstanding at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively 505 379 
Additional paid-in capital 206,307,790 202,129,195 
Accumulated deficit (197,473,167) (196,881,800)

Total stockholders’ equity 8,835,129 5,247,775 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 10,768,893 $ 7,994,575 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim financial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Operations

(Unaudited)
 

 Quarters Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenues $ 2,213,499 $ 1,359,979 $ 4,368,971 $ 3,532,015 

Cost of revenues 558,221 495,086 1,134,510 1,115,276 

Gross profit 1,655,278 864,893 3,234,461 2,416,739 

Operating expenses:     
Research and development 641,525 660,278 874,802 1,193,898 
Sales and marketing 269,493 379,113 663,318 803,462 
General and administrative 1,276,223 678,497 2,288,499 1,930,243 

Total operating expenses 2,187,241 1,717,888 3,826,619 3,927,603 

Loss from operations (531,963) (852,995) (592,158) (1,510,864)

Other income 379 1,051 791 1,549 

Net loss $ (531,584) $ (851,944) $ (591,367) $ (1,509,315)

Net loss per common share applicable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (0.13) $ (0.28) $ (0.15) $ (0.68)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim financial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity

(Unaudited)

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
Common

Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit Total

Number of
Shares Amount

Number of
Shares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2019 200 $ 1 1,400,674 $ 140 $ 197,319,698 $ (194,789,605) $ 2,530,234 
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 144,047 — 144,047 
Issuance of common stock under at the market offering — — 256,078 25 453,432 — 453,457 
Issuance of common stock to settle compensation
obligations — — 31,000 3 43,748 — 43,751 
Net loss — (657,371) (657,371)
Balance at March 31, 2020 200 1 1,687,752 168 197,960,925 (195,446,976) 2,514,118 
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 128,862 — 128,862 
Issuance of common stock under at the market offering — — 2,092,541 209 3,689,765 — 3,689,974 
Issuance of common stock under employee stock
purchase plan — — 4,364 1 7,605 — 7,606 
Net loss — — — — — (851,944) (851,944)
Balance at June 30, 2020 200 $ 1 3,784,657 $ 378 $ 201,787,157 $ (196,298,920) $ 5,488,616 

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
Common

Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit Total

Number of
Shares Amount

Number of
Shares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2020 200 $ 1 3,793,739 $ 379 $ 202,129,195 $ (196,881,800) $ 5,247,775 
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 68,863 — 68,863 
Issuance of common stock under employee stock
purchase plan — — 2,408 1 4,196 — 4,197 
Net loss — — — — — (59,783) (59,783)
Balance at March 31, 2021 200 1 3,796,147 380 202,202,254 (196,941,583) 5,261,052 
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 319,863 — 319,863 
Issuance of common stock under at the market offering — — 1,207,681 121 3,766,727 — 3,766,848 
Issuance of common stock under employee stock
purchase plan — — 7,055 1 18,949 — 18,950 
Vesting of restricted stock under option plan — — 13,911 3 (3) — — 
Net loss — — — — — (531,584) (531,584)
Balance at June 30, 2021 200 $ 1 5,024,794 $ 505 $ 206,307,790 $ (197,473,167) $ 8,835,129 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim financial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
 Six Months Ended June 30,
 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities:   
Net loss $ (591,367) $ (1,509,315)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:   
Depreciation 79,511 45,589 
Stock-based compensation 388,726 272,909 
Settlement of compensation obligation — 43,751 
Impairment charge against right of use asset 126,748 204,000 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   

Accounts receivable (122,736) (108,694)
Inventories 22,128 (28,284)
Collaboration receivable — 7,678 
Prepaid expenses and other current and long-term assets 28,823 465,630 
Accounts payable 147,444 (534,823)
Accrued expenses and compensation (148,015) (599,201)
Accrued product returns (500,000) (91,000)

Net cash used in operating activities (568,738) (1,831,760)

Cash flows from investing activities:   
Purchases of fixed assets (83,273) (10,500)

Net cash used in investing activities (83,273) (10,500)

Cash flows from financing activities:   
Net proceeds from issuance of stock 3,789,995 4,151,037 
Proceeds from debt issuance — 773,200 
Repayment of debt — (773,200)

Net cash provided by financing activities 3,789,995 4,151,037 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,137,984 2,308,777 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 5,226,213 3,126,206 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 8,364,197 $ 5,434,983 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:   

Common stock issued to settle employee compensation $ — $ 43,751 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim financial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Unaudited Financial Statements

June 30, 2021

1. Business and Basis of Presentation

Our Business-An Overview
 

NeuroMetrix, Inc. (the Company) is an innovation-driven company focused on the development and global commercialization of non-invasive medical devices for the diagnosis and treatment of pain and neurological disorders.
Revenues are derived from the sale of medical devices and after-market consumable products and accessories. The Company’s products are cleared by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and regulators in foreign
jurisdictions where appropriate. The Company has three commercial products. DPNCheck  is a diagnostic device that provides rapid, point-of-care detection of peripheral neuropathies. ADVANCE  is a diagnostic device that provides
automated, in-office nerve conduction studies for the evaluation of focal neuropathies. Quell  is a wearable neurostimulation device indicated for symptomatic relief of lower extremity chronic pain that is available over-the-counter.

Unaudited Interim Financial Statements
 

The accompanying unaudited balance sheet as of June 30, 2021, unaudited statements of operations, changes in stockholders' equity for the quarters and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 and cash flows for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 8 of
Regulation S-X. The accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 has been derived from audited financial statements prepared at that date but does not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In the opinion of management, the financial statements include all normal and recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial position and
operating results. Operating results for the six months ended June 30, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2021 or any other period. These financial statements and
notes should be read in conjunction with the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, on
January 29, 2021 (File No. 001-33351).

 
Revenues

Revenues include product sales, net of estimated returns. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for product transferred. Revenue is recognized when contractual
performance obligations have been satisfied and control of the product has been transferred to the customer. In most cases, the Company has a single product delivery performance obligation. Accrued product returns are estimated
based on historical data and evaluation of current information.

Accounts receivable are recorded at the amount the Company expects to collect, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable
credit losses based on customer past payment history, product usage activity, and recent communications with the customer. Individual customer balances which are over 90 days past due are reviewed individually for collectability and
written-off when recovery is not probable. Allowance for doubtful accounts was $25,000 as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

 
One customer accounted for 26% and 31% of total revenues in the quarter and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively. Three customers accounted for 42% and one customer accounted for 20% of total revenues in the quarter

and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively. Two customers accounted for 25% and two customers accounted for 50% of accounts receivable as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Stock-based Compensation
 

Total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized at June 30, 2021 was $302,249. The total compensation costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.1 years.

® ®

®
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Liquidity

Our principal source of liquidity is cash and cash equivalents of $8.4 million at June 30, 2021. In addition to our cash resources, funding for our operations largely depends on revenues from the sale of our commercial products. A
low level of market interest in our products, a decline in our consumables sales, unanticipated increases in our operating costs, and the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic could have an adverse effect on our liquidity and cash.

Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

2.     Comprehensive Loss
 

For the quarters and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had no components of other comprehensive loss other than net loss itself.
 

3.     Net Loss Per Common Share
 

Basic and dilutive net loss per common share were as follows:

Quarters Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Net loss applicable to common stockholders $ (531,584) $ (851,944) $ (591,367) $ (1,509,315)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding,
basic and dilutive 4,155,948 3,014,523 3,977,028 2,235,874 

Net loss per common share applicable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted $ (0.13) $ (0.28) $ (0.15) $ (0.68)

Shares underlying the following potentially dilutive weighted average number of common stock equivalents were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per common share because their effect was anti-dilutive for each of
the periods presented: 

Quarters Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Options 439,410 163,481 404,156 163,774 
Warrants — 27,287 — 34,686 
Convertible preferred stock 62 62 62 62 
Total 439,472 190,830 404,218 198,522 
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4.     Inventories
 

Inventories consist of the following: 

 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Purchased components $ 755,578 $ 716,848 
Finished goods 273,576 334,434 
 $ 1,029,154 $ 1,051,282 

5.     Accrued Expenses and Compensation
  

Accrued expenses and compensation consist of the following:

 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Professional services $ 173,000 $ 343,000 
Compensation 354,422 49,837 
Advertising and promotion 1,000 31,000 
Warranty 37,600 49,600 
Technology fees — 450,000 
Leasehold 60,000 — 
Sales tax 127,775 24,493 
Other 36,630 50,512 
 $ 790,427 $ 998,442 
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6.     Operating Leases
 

The Company's lease on its Woburn, Massachusetts corporate office and manufacturing facilities (the “Woburn Lease”) extends through September 2025 with a monthly base rent of $13,846 and a 5-year extension option. The
Company's lease on its former corporate office in Waltham, Massachusetts (the "Waltham Lease") extends through February 2022 with an average monthly base rent of $41,074 and a 5-year extension option. A letter of credit in the
amount of $226,731, secured by the Company's cash balances, was issued by a bank in favor on the Waltham Lease landlord. While the Company continues to actively seek a sublet for the Waltham Lease under difficult market
conditions, the Company has written off the value of its right-to-use asset in the Waltham facility. The impairment charges recorded within the Company's Statement of Operations for the quarters ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were
zero and $117,000, respectively and $126,748 and $204,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as of June 30, 2021 are as follows:

2021 $ 327,580 
2022 247,347 
2023 165,785 
2024 165,785 
2025 117,431 

Total minimum lease payments $ 1,023,928 

Weighted-average discount rate, 14.7% $ 215,351 
Lease obligation, current portion 457,682 
Lease obligation, net of current portion 350,895 

$ 1,023,928 

Total recorded rent expense was $57,453 and $166,905, for the quarters ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Total recorded rent expense was $224,357 and $333,809, for the six months ended June 30. 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The Company records rent expense on its facility leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Weighted average remaining operating lease term was 2.9 years as of June 30, 2021.

7.     Fair Value Measurements
 

The following tables present information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the periods presented and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques it
utilized to determine such fair value. In general, fair values determined by Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize data points
that are observable such as quoted prices, interest rates, and yield curves. Fair values determined by Level 3 inputs are unobservable data points for the asset or liability, and include situations where there is little, if any, market activity
for the asset or liability. All Company assets and liabilities measured at fair value utilize Level 1 inputs.

 

  Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2021 Using

 June 30, 2021

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:     
Cash equivalents $ 5,463,532 $ 5,463,532 $ — $ — 
Total $ 5,463,532 $ 5,463,532 $ — $ — 
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  Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2020 Using

 December 31, 2020

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:     
Cash equivalents $ 2,374,216 $ 2,374,216 $ — $ — 
Total $ 2,374,216 $ 2,374,216 $ — $ — 

As of June 30, 2021, the Company's cash equivalents consisted of money market accounts.  

8.     Stockholders’ Equity
 

Preferred stock and convertible preferred stock consist of the following: 

 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020; no shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2021

and December 31, 2020 $ — $ — 
Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 147,000 shares designated at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020; 200 shares issued and

outstanding at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 $ 1 $ 1 

 
2021 equity activity

In January 2021, the Company issued 2,408 shares of fully vested common stock, par value $0.0001 per share ("common stock"), with a value of $4,197 pursuant to the Company's 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

In May 2021, the Company issued 42,808 shares of restricted common stock with a value of $125,000 under its 2004 Stock Option Plan. As of June 30, 2021, 13,911 were vested, 7,493 were forfeited in lieu of paying withholding
taxes on the vesting of the restricted stock and 21,404 remain restricted.

In June 2021, the Company issued 7,055 shares of fully vested common stock with a value of $18,950 pursuant to the Company's 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company issued 1,207,681 shares of its common stock, under an at-the-market offering program ("ATM Agreement") for net proceeds of $3,766,848. The ATM Agreement was
entered into in 2020 and permits the sale and issuance of the Company's common stock subject to regulatory limitations imposed by the Securities and Exchange Commission and pursuant to a "shelf" registration statement on Form S-
3.

2020 equity activity

In March 2020, the Company issued 31,000 shares of fully vested common stock with a value of $43,751 pursuant to a Separation Agreement between the Company and an employee. The shares issued reflected the $1.41 closing
price of the Company's common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Capital Market on March 11, 2020.

In June 2020, the Company issued 4,364 shares of fully vested common stock with a value of $7,606 pursuant to the Company's 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, 2,348,619 shares of common stock were issued pursuant to the ATM Agreement for net proceeds of $4,143,431.
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9.     Termination Agreement

On June 30, 2021, the Company entered into a Termination Agreement with GSK Consumer Healthcare S.A. ("GSK") pursuant to which the parties terminated the 2018 Development and Services Agreement which provided GSK
with license and intellectual property rights for the commercialization of the Quell technology for markets outside the United States. Under terms of the Termination Agreement, GSK transferred back to NeuroMetrix all of GSK's rights
in the Quell technology related to markets outside the United States, including technology improvements and intellectual property. NeuroMetrix agreed to make royalty payments to GSK ranging between 5% and 8% for a ten-year
period based on net sales of Quell devices that are available to consumers for purchase without a prescription from a licensed medical professional outside the United States.

10.     Subsequent Event

From July 1, 2021 to July 20, 2021, the Company issued 582,709 shares of common stock under its ATM program. Net proceeds from this activity was $2,239,607.

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with our financial statements and the accompanying notes to those financial statements included elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. For a description of factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements, please refer to the below section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q titled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to “we”,
“us”, the “Company”, or “NeuroMetrix” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q refer to NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Overview
 
NeuroMetrix develops and commercializes health care products that utilize non-invasive neurostimulation. Our core expertise in biomedical engineering has been refined over two decades of designing, building and marketing

medical devices that stimulate nerves and analyze nerve response for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. We created the market for point-of-care nerve testing and were first to market with sophisticated wearable technology for
symptomatic relief of chronic pain. Our business is fully integrated with in-house capabilities spanning research and development, manufacturing, regulatory affairs and compliance, sales and marketing, product fulfillment and
customer support. We derive revenues from the sale of medical devices and after-market consumable products and accessories. Our products are sold in the United States and select overseas markets. They are cleared by the U.S. Food
and Drug Administration (FDA) and regulators in foreign jurisdictions where appropriate. We have two principal product categories:

• Point-of-care neuropathy diagnostic tests
• Wearable neurostimulation devices

Peripheral neuropathies, also called polyneuropathies, are diseases of the peripheral nerves. They affect about 10% of adults in the United States, with the prevalence rising to 25-50% among individuals 65 years and older.
Peripheral neuropathies are associated with loss of sensation, pain, increased risk of falling, weakness, and other complications. People with peripheral neuropathies generally have a diminished quality of life, poor overall health and
higher mortality. The most common specific cause of peripheral neuropathies, accounting for about one-third of cases, is diabetes. Diabetes is a worldwide epidemic with an estimated affected population of over 400 million people.
Within the United States there are over 30 million people with diabetes and another 80 million people with pre-diabetes. The annual direct cost of treating diabetes in the United States exceeds $100 billion. Although there are dangerous
acute manifestations of diabetes, the primary burden of the disease is in its long-term complications, which include cardiovascular disease, nerve disease and resulting conditions such as foot ulcers which may require amputation, eye
disease leading to blindness, and kidney failure. The most common long-term complication of diabetes, affecting over 50% of the diabetic population, is peripheral neuropathy. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN) is the primary
trigger for diabetic foot ulcers, which may progress to the point of requiring amputation. People with diabetes have a 15-25% lifetime risk of foot ulcers and approximately 15% of foot ulcers lead to amputation. Foot ulcers are the most
expensive complication of diabetes with a typical cost of $5,000 to $50,000 per episode. In addition, between 16% and 26% of people with diabetes suffer from chronic pain in the feet and lower legs.
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Early detection of peripheral neuropathies, such as DPN, is important because there are no treatment options once the nerves have degenerated. Today’s diagnostic methods for peripheral neuropathies range from a simple
monofilament test for lack of sensory perception in the feet to a nerve conduction study performed by a specialist. Our DPNCheck nerve conduction technology provides a rapid, low cost, quantitative test for peripheral neuropathies,
including DPN. It addresses an important medical need and is particularly effective in screening large populations. DPNCheck has been validated in numerous clinical studies.

Chronic pain is a significant public health problem. It is defined by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) as pain lasting more than 12 weeks. This contrasts with acute pain which is a normal bodily response to injury or trauma.
Chronic pain conditions include low back pain, arthritis, fibromyalgia, neuropathic pain, cancer pain and many others. Chronic pain may be triggered by an injury or there may be an ongoing cause such as disease or illness. There may
also be no clear cause. Chronic pain can also lead to other health problems. These can include fatigue, sleep disturbance and mood changes which cause difficulty in carrying out important activities and may contribute to disability and
despair. In general, chronic pain cannot be cured. Treatment of chronic pain is focused on reducing pain and improving function. The goal is effective pain management.

Chronic pain affects nearly 100 million adults in the United States and more than 1.5 billion people worldwide. The estimated incremental impact of chronic pain on health care costs in the United States is over $250 billion per year
and lost productivity is estimated to exceed $300 billion per year. The most common approach to chronic pain management is pain medication. This includes over-the-counter (OTC) internal and external analgesics as well as
prescription pain medications, both non-opioid and opioids. The approach to treatment is individualized, drug combinations may be employed, and the results are often inadequate. Side effects, including the potential for addiction are
substantial. Increasingly, restrictions are being imposed on access to prescription opioids. Reflecting the complexity of chronic pain and the difficulty in treating it, we believe that inadequate relief leads 25% to 50% of pain sufferers to
seek alternatives to prescription pain medications. These alternatives include nutraceuticals, acupuncture, chiropractic care, non-prescription analgesics, electrical stimulators, braces, sleeves, pads and other items. In total these pain
relief products and services account for approximately $20 billion in annual out-of-pocket spending in the United States.

Nerve stimulation is a long-established category of treatment for chronic pain. This treatment approach is available through implantable devices which have both surgical and ongoing risks, such as migration of the implanted nerve
stimulation leads. Non-invasive approaches involving transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) have achieved limited efficacy in practice due to power limitations, ineffective dosing and low patient adherence. We believe
that our Quell wearable technology for chronic pain is designed to address many of the limitations of traditional TENS.

 
Results of Operations

 
Comparison of Quarters Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

 
Revenues

 

 Quarters Ended June 30,  
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in thousands)  

Revenues $ 2,213.5 $ 1,360.0 $ 853.5 62.8 %

 
Revenues include sales of our wearable technologies for chronic pain and our nerve conduction technologies to physician offices, clinics, hospitals, other healthcare providers and insurers, as well as domestic and international

distributors. Revenues comprise sales of medical devices as well as aftermarket electrodes and other supplies. Revenues were approximately $2.2 million during the second quarter of 2021 compared with $1.4 million during the second
quarter of 2020 which was adversely affected by the economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit
 

 Quarters Ended June 30,  
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in thousands)  

Cost of revenues $ 558.2 $ 495.1 $ 63.1 12.7 %

Gross profit $ 1,655.3 $ 864.9 $ 790.4 91.4 %

 
Gross margin was 74.8% in the second quarter of 2021 versus 63.6% in the same period in the prior year. The margin improvement in 2021 was due to increased weighting of our nerve conduction testing technologies within total

revenue.

Operating Expenses
 

 Quarters Ended June 30,  
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in thousands)  

Operating expenses:     
Research and development $ 641.5 $ 660.3 $ (18.8) (2.8)%
Sales and marketing 269.5 379.1 (109.6) (28.9)%
General and administrative 1,276.2 678.5 597.7 88.1 %
Total operating expenses $ 2,187.2 $ 1,717.9 $ 469.3 27.3 %

 
Research and Development

 
Research and development expense in the second quarter of 2021 decreased by 2.8% from the same period in the prior year due to a decrease of $35,000 in personnel costs and a decrease of $64,000 in consulting and professional

services offset by an increase of $86,000 in clinical and development costs.
 

Sales and Marketing
 

Sales and marketing expense in the second quarter of 2021 decreased by 28.9% from the same period in the prior year due to a reduction of $61,000 in advertising spending and $40,000 in consulting costs.

General and Administrative
 

General and administrative expense in the second quarter of 2021 increased by 88.1% from the same period in the prior year due to an increase of $56,000 in consulting costs, an increase of $105,000 in outside professional service
costs, $110,000 in sales tax and fee related costs and a $335,000 increase in non-cash personnel costs relating to executive officers who took significant compensation reductions in the prior year.

Other income
 

 Quarters Ended June 30,  
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in thousands)  

    
Other income $ 0.4 $ 1.1 $ (0.7) (63.6) %

Other income primarily includes interest income.
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Comparison of Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
 

Revenues
 

 Six Months Ended June 30,  
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in thousands)  

Revenues $ 4,369.0 $ 3,532.0 $ 837.0 23.7 %

 
Revenues include sales of our wearable technologies for chronic pain and our nerve conduction technologies to physician offices, clinics, hospitals, other healthcare providers and insurers, as well as domestic and international

distributors. Revenues comprise sales of medical devices as well as aftermarket electrodes and other supplies. Revenues in the six months ended June 30, 2021 were approximately $837,000 higher than the six months ended June 30,
2020, which was adversely affected by the economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

 
Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

 

 Six Months Ended June 30,  
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in thousands)  

Cost of revenues $ 1,134.5 $ 1,115.3 $ 19.2 1.7 %

Gross profit $ 3,234.5 $ 2,416.7 $ 817.7 33.8 %

 
Gross margin was 74.0% in the six months ended June 30, 2021 versus 68.4% in the same period in the prior year. The margin improvement in 2021 was due to increased weighting of our nerve conduction testing technologies

within total revenue.

Operating Expenses
 

 Six Months Ended June 30,  
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in thousands)  

Operating expenses:     
Research and development $ 874.8 $ 1,193.9 $ (319.1) (26.7)%
Sales and marketing 663.3 803.5 (140.2) (17.4)%
General and administrative 2,288.5 1,930.2 358.3 18.6 %
Total operating expenses $ 3,826.6 $ 3,927.6 $ (101.0) (2.6)%

 
Research and Development

 
Research and development expense in the six months ended June 30, 2021 decreased by 26.7% from the same period in the prior year due to the reversal of a $450,000 technology fee accrual in the first quarter of 2021 offset by an

increase of $50,000 in consulting and professional costs and $84,000 in clinical and development costs.
 

Sales and Marketing
 

Sales and marketing expense in the six months ended June 30, 2021 decreased by 17.4% from the same period in the prior year due to a $236,000 reduction in personnel spending offset by an increase in advertising spending of
$116,000.
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General and Administrative
 

General and administrative expense in the six months ended June 30, 2021 increased by 18.6% from the same period in the prior year due to a reduction of $62,000 in consulting costs and a reduction of $50,000 in outside
professional service costs. This was offset by a $372,000 increase in non-cash personnel costs relating to executive officers who took significant compensation reductions in the prior year and by $95,000 in sales tax and fee related
costs.

Other income
 

 Six Months Ended June 30,  
 2021 2020 Change % Change
 (in thousands)  

    
Other income $ 0.8 $ 1.5 $ (0.8) (51.6) %

Other income primarily includes interest income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Our principal source of liquidity is cash and cash equivalents of $8.4 million at June 30, 2021. In addition to our cash resources, funding for our operations largely depends on revenues from the sale of our commercial products. A
low level of market interest in our products, a decline in our consumables sales, unanticipated increases in our operating costs, and the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic could have an adverse effect on our liquidity and cash.

 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020 Change % Change
 (in thousands)  

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,364.2 $ 5,226.2 $ 3,138.0 60.0 %

 
During the six months ended June 30, 2021, our cash and cash equivalents increased by $3,138.0 thousand reflecting $568.7 thousand in cash used in operating activities and $83.3 thousand in cash used in investing activities, offset

by $3,785.0 thousand in cash provided by financing activities.

In managing working capital, we focus on two important financial measurements:

 Quarters Ended June 30,
Year Ended

December 31,
 2021 2020 2020

Days sales outstanding (days) 19 26 15
Inventory turnover rate (times per year) 2.2 1.7 1.9

Days sales outstanding (DSO) reflect customer payment terms which vary from payment on order to 60 days from invoice date. DSO decreased to 19 days during the quarter ended June 30, 2021 compared to 26 days in the prior
year period. This was primarily attributable to the timing of sales within the respective quarters.

The inventory turnover rate increased to 2.2 turns in the second quarter of 2021 compared to 1.7 turns in the prior year period. The increase was due to higher sales in the second quarter of 2021 on approximately constant inventory
levels.
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The following sets forth information relating to our sources and uses of our cash:

 Six Months Ended June 30,
 2021 2020
 (in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities $ (568.7) $ (1,831.8)
Net cash used in investing activities (83.3) (10.5)
Net cash provided by financing activities 3,790.0 4,151.0 
Net cash provided $ 3,138.0 $ 2,308.7 

 
We have an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 on file with the SEC covering the sales of shares of our common stock and other securities. This shelf registration statement gives us the opportunity to raise funding

when needed or otherwise considered appropriate at prices and on terms to be determined at the time of any such offerings. Pursuant to the instructions to Form S-3, we have the ability to sell shares under the shelf registration
statement, during any 12-month period, in an amount less than or equal to one-third of the aggregate market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or debt securities, either
through the sale of securities pursuant to a registration statement or by other means, our existing stockholders may experience dilution, and the new equity or debt securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of
our existing stockholders. If we raise additional funds through collaboration, licensing or other similar arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies, or grant
licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 

The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including under the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and other sections of this Quarterly
Report, include forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, including, without
limitation, statements regarding our or our management’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future, such as our estimates regarding anticipated operating losses, future revenues and projected expenses,
the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operating capabilities, our future liquidity and our expectations regarding our needs for and ability to raise additional capital; our ability to manage our expenses effectively and raise the
funds needed to continue our business; our belief that there are unmet needs for the management of chronic pain and in the diagnosis and treatment of diabetic neuropathy; our expectations surrounding our commercialized
neurostimulation and neuropathy diagnostic products; our expected timing and our plans to develop and commercialize our products; our ability to meet our proposed timelines for the commercial availability of our products; our ability
to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of our existing products and any future products we may develop; regulatory and legislative developments in the United States and foreign countries; the performance of our third-party
manufacturers; our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our products; the successful development of our sales and marketing capabilities; the size and growth of the potential markets for our products and our
ability to serve those markets; our estimate of our customer returns of our products; the rate and degree of market acceptance of any future products; our reliance on key scientific management or personnel; the payment and
reimbursement methods used by private or government third party payers; and other factors discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,”
“intend,” “expect,” “plan” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. The forward-looking statements contained in this
quarterly report are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated.
These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions that may cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or
implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those factors described in the section titled “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. Should one or more of these
risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of our assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary from those projected in these forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.

 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

 
We do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio and have no foreign exchange contracts. Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents. We consider investments that, when purchased,

have a remaining maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. The primary objectives of our investment strategy are to preserve principal, maintain proper liquidity to meet operating needs, and maximize yields. To minimize our
exposure to an adverse shift in interest rates, we invest mainly in cash equivalents and short-term investments with a maturity of twelve months or less and maintain an average maturity of twelve months or less. We do not believe that a
notional or hypothetical 10% change in interest rate percentages would have a material impact on the fair value of our investment portfolio or our interest income.

 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures

 
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of June 30, 2021, have concluded that, based on such evaluation, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we
file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

 
(b) Changes in Internal Controls. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, identified in connection with the evaluation of such internal control that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2021 that

have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 

While we are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings, we could become subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. We do not expect any such potential items to have a significant impact on our
financial position.

 
Item 1A. Risk Factors

 
There have been no material changes in the risk factors described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Item 2.   Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 3.    Defaults Upon Senior Securities
 

None. 

Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures
 

Not applicable. 

Item 5.    Other Information
 

Amendment to the Shareholders Rights Agreement

On July 20, 2021, NeuroMetrix, Inc. entered into Amendment No. 14 (“Amendment No. 14”) to the Shareholder Rights Agreement with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC dated as of March 7, 2007, as amended
(the “Rights Plan”), to amend certain of the provisions of the Rights Plan. Any capitalized term used herein that is not defined shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Amendment No. 14 or the Rights Plan, as the case may be.

As in past years, the primary purpose of Amendment No. 14 is to extend the term of the Rights Plan by an incremental one-year period, i.e., from an expiry of March 7, 2022 to March 7, 2023. In addition, Amendment No. 14 also
makes certain amendments to update provisions of the Rights Plan that have been unchanged since their original adoption, including: (1) expanding the definition of “Beneficial Ownership” to account for current types of derivative
contracts and synthetic equity, and (2) including a trust feature in Section 24 of the Rights Plan.

The foregoing description of Amendment No. 14 is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and the fully text of Amendment No. 14, a copy of which is set forth as Exhibit 4.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 6.    Exhibits

Exhibit No.  Description

4.1
Amendment No. 14 to Shareholder Rights Agreement by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent, dated July 20, 2021. Filed

herewith.

10.1 Termination Agreement by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and GSK Consumer Healthcare S.A. dated June 30, 2021. Filed herewith.

31.1  
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Under Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Filed herewith.
   

31.2  
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Required Under Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Filed herewith.
   

32  
Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Required Under Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18

U.S.C. Section 1350. Furnished herewith.

101

The following materials from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i)
Balance Sheets at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, (ii) Statements of Operations for the quarters ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, (iii) Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for
the quarters ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, (iv) Statements of Cash Flows for the quarters ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and (v) Notes to Financial Statements.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

  NEUROMETRIX, INC.
  
July 22, 2021 /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH. D.
  Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. D.
  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
  
July 22, 2021 /s/ THOMAS T. HIGGINS
  Thomas T. Higgins
  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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AMENDMENT NO. 14 TO
SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This Amendment No. 14 to Shareholder Rights Agreement (the “Amendment”), dated as of July 20, 2021, by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”),
and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC (the “Rights Agent”), amends that certain Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of March 7, 2007, as previously amended, between the
Company and the Rights Agent (as so amended, the “Rights Agreement”).

WHEREAS, the Company and the Rights Agent are parties to the Rights Agreement;

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 27 of the Rights Agreement, the Company and the Rights Agent may from time to time supplement or amend the Rights Agreement subject to the terms
of the Rights Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company has determined that an amendment to the Rights Agreement as set forth herein is necessary and desirable in connection with the
foregoing and the Company and the Rights Agent desire to evidence such amendment in writing.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these premises and mutual agreements set forth herein, the parties agree as follows:

1.    Amendment to Section 1. Section 1 of the Rights Agreement, “Certain Definitions” is supplemented to add the following definitions at the end thereof:

“Derivative” shall have the meaning set forth in the definition of “Derivative Position.”

“Derivative Position” shall mean any option, warrant, convertible security, stock appreciation right, or other security, contract right or derivative position or similar right (including any
contract for difference “swap” transaction with respect to any security, other than a broad based market basket or index) (any of the foregoing, a “Derivative”), whether or not presently
exercisable, that (i) has an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement payment or mechanism at a price related to the value of the shares of Common Stock or a value determined in whole or
in part with reference to, or derived in whole or in part from, the value of the shares of Common Stock and that increases in value as the market price or value of the shares of Common Stock
increases or that provides an opportunity, directly or indirectly, to profit or share in any profit derived from any increase in the value of the shares of Common Stock and (ii) is capable of being
settled, in whole or in part, through delivery of shares of Common Stock (whether on a required or optional basis, and whether such settlement may occur immediately on or only after the passage
of time, the occurrence of conditions, the satisfaction of regulatory requirements or otherwise), in each case regardless of whether (A) it conveys any voting rights in such shares of Common Stock
to any Person or (B) any Person (including the holder of such Derivative Position) may have entered into other transactions that hedge its economic effect.

“Exchange Property” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 24(f) hereof.



“Exchange Recipient” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 24(f) hereof.

“Trust” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 24(f) hereof.

2.    Amendment to Section 1(d). Section 1(d) of the Rights Agreement is further amended by adding the following clause (iv) at the end thereof:

“or (iv) which are the subject of, or the reference securities for, or that underlie, any Derivative Position of such Person of any of such Person’s Affiliates, with the number of shares of
Common Stock deemed Beneficially Owned in respect of a Derivate Position being the notional or other number of shares of Common Stock in respect of such Derivative Position (without regard
to any short or similar position) that is specified in (A) one or more filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission by such Person or any of such Person’s Affiliates or Associates or (B) the
documentation evidencing such Derivative Position as the basis upon which the value or settlement amount of such Derivative Position, or the opportunity of the holder of such Derivative Position
to profit or share in any profit, is to be calculated in whole or in part (whichever of (A) or (B) is greater), or if no such number of shares of Common Stock is specified in such filings or
documentation (or such documentation is not available to the Board of Directors of the Company) as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in its reasonable discretion.”

3.    Amendment to Section 7(a). Section 7(a) of the Rights Agreement is amended by striking Section 7(a) in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

“(a) Subject to Section 7(e) hereof, the registered holder of any Right Certificate may exercise the Rights evidenced thereby (except as otherwise provided herein) in whole or in part at any
time after the Distribution Date upon surrender of the Right Certificate, with the form of election to purchase and the certificate on the reverse side thereof duly executed, to the Rights Agent at the
office or offices of the Rights Agent designated for such purpose, together with payment of the aggregate Exercise Price for the total number of one ten-thousandths of a share of Preferred Stock
(or other securities, cash or other assets, as the case may be) as to which such surrendered Rights are then exercised, at or prior to the earlier of (i) the Close of Business on the sixteenth
anniversary of the Record Date (the “Final Expiration Date”), (ii) the time at which the Rights are redeemed as provided in Section 23 hereof (the “Redemption Date”) or (iii) the time at which
such Rights are exchanged as provided in Section 24 hereof (the “Exchange Date”) (the earliest of (i), (ii) or (iii) being herein referred to as the “Expiration Date”). Except as set forth in Section
7(e) hereof and notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, any Person who prior to the Distribution Date becomes a record holder of shares of Common Stock of the Company may
exercise all of the rights of a registered holder of a Right Certificate with respect to the Rights associated with such shares of Common Stock of the Company in accordance with the provisions of
this Agreement, as of the date such Person becomes a record holder of shares of Common Stock of the Company.”

4.    Amendment to Section 24. Section 24 of the Rights Agreement is amended by adding the following clause (f) at the end thereof:
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“(f) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 24 to the contrary, the exchange of the Rights may be made effective at such time, on such basis and subject to such conditions as the Board of
Directors of the Company in its sole discretion may establish. Without limiting the preceding sentence, the Board of Directors of the Company may (i) in lieu of issuing shares of Common Stock
or any securities contemplated by this Section 24 to the Persons entitled thereto in connection with the exchange (such Persons, the “Exchange Recipients,” and such shares and other securities,
together with any dividends or distributions made on such shares or other securities, the “Exchange Property”) issue, transfer or deposit the Exchange Property to or into a trust or other entity (the
“Trust”) created upon such terms as the Board of Directors of the Company may determine to hold all or a portion of the Exchange Property for the benefit of the Exchanged Recipients, (ii) permit
the Trust to exercise all of the rights that stockholder of record would possess with respect to any shares deposited in the Trust and (iii) direct that all holders of Rights entitled to receive Exchange
Property shall be entitled to receive such Exchange property only from the Trust and only upon compliance with the relevant terms and provisions of the Trust and subject to such conditions as the
Board of Directors of the Company in its sole discretion may establish. _Prior to effecting an exchange of Rights, the Company may require (or cause the trustee or other governing body of the
Trust to require), as a condition thereof, that any Exchange Recipient provide evidence that is not an Acquiring Person, including without limitation, evidence of the identity of the current or
former Beneficial owner thereof and their Affiliates and Associates. If any Person shall fails to comply with any request to provide such evidence, the Company shall be entitled conclusively to
deem the Rights held by such Person to be null and void pursuant to Section 7(e) hereof and not transferable or exercisable or exchangeable in connection herewith. In the event that the Board of
Directors of the Company determines, before the Distribution Date, to effect an exchange, the Board of Directors of the Company may delay the occurrence of the Distribution Date to such time as
the Board of Directors of the Company deems advisable.”

5.    Ratification. The parties hereby ratify and confirm in all respects the Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.

6.    Governing Law. This Amendment shall be deemed to be a contract made under the laws of the State of Delaware and for all purposes shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of such State applicable to contracts to be made and performed entirely within such State.

7.    Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original, and all such
counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

8.    Descriptive Headings. Descriptive headings of the several Sections of this Amendment are inserted for convenience only and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of
any of the provisions hereof.

[Remainder left intentionally blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Amendment No. 14 to Shareholder Rights Agreement as of the date first stated above.

NEUROMETRIX, INC.

By:        
Name:    Thomas T. Higgins
Title:    Senior Vice President, Chief

Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Principal Accounting Officer

AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST COMPANY, LLC

By:        
Name:        
Title:        

[Signature Page to Amendment No. 14 to Shareholder Rights Agreement]



EXECUTION NY: 1295413-1 TERMINATION AGREEMENT This Termination Agreement (the “Termination Agreement”) is made as of June 30, 2021, (the “Effective Date”) by and between: (1) GSK Consumer Healthcare SARL, formerly known as GSK Consumer Healthcare S.A. (formerly known as Novartis Consumer Health S.A. (“Novartis CH”)), a société à responsabilité limitée organized under the laws of Switzerland (“GSK”); and (2) NeuroMetrix, Inc. (“NeuroMetrix”), a Delaware corporation. GSK and NeuroMetrix are each referred to herein by name or, individually, as a “Party” or collectively, as “Parties.” Recitals (A) WHEREAS, NeuroMetrix and Novartis CH entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2018 (the “Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which NeuroMetrix agreed, among other things, to (i) sell, convey, deliver, transfer and assign to GSK all right, title and interest in, to and under all of the Purchased Assets and (ii) assign to GSK all right, title and interest in, to and under the Ex-US License Agreement (as defined below); (B) WHEREAS, NeuroMetrix and Novartis CH entered into a Development and Services Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2018, as amended on December 6, 2018 (the “Development Agreement”); (C) WHEREAS, NeuroMetrix and Novartis CH entered into an Assignment of License Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2018 (the “Assignment Agreement”), pursuant to which NeuroMetrix assigned to GSK all of NeuroMetrix’s rights and obligations under that certain License Agreement, made and entered into effective as of December 21, 2017 by and between Quell Intellectual Property Corp., LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“SPV”) and NeuroMetrix (the “Ex-US License Agreement”); (D) WHEREAS, NeuroMetrix and GlaxoSmithKline, LLC (an Affiliate of GSK) entered into that certain Confidentiality Disclosure Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2017 (“CDA”), and that certain Standstill Agreement (“Standstill Agreement”), dated as of July 19, 2017; (E) WHEREAS, following certain discussions and correspondence between the Parties, which have led to the agreement to an Outline of Proposed Terms between the Parties in December, 2020, the Parties mutually desire to terminate the Development Agreement and assign
Termination, and in exchange for the payment of certain royalties to GSK as set forth herein, NeuroMetrix is acquiring rights, title and interest in, to and under the Purchased Assets, including in, to, and under the SPV, and other certain rights of GSK in intellectual property developed under the Development Agreement, as set forth in Annex A (such intellectual property, the “GSK Arising IP,” and such acquisition, together with the Termination, the “Termination Transactions”);



 

2 (G) WHEREAS, the Parties have agreed to consummate the Termination on the terms and conditions set forth herein and to establish certain terms and conditions governing the Parties’ respective rights and obligations following such termination. NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained in this Termination Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 1. Definitions and Construction 1.1. Definitions. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, (a) subject to clause (b), capitalized terms have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Purchase Agreement or Development Agreement, as applicable, and (b) the following terms, when used with a capital letter at the beginning, have the following meanings: “Affiliate” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “Applicable Law” means the relevant laws, rules, and regulations that may be in effect from time to time. “Assignment Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “Auditor” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5.2. “Business Day” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “Calendar Quarter” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “Calendar Year” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “Commercialization” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “Change of Control Transaction” means, with respect to NeuroMetrix: (a) the acquisition by any individual, entity or group of beneficial ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of either (i) the then outstanding shares of common stock of NeuroMetrix or an Affiliate of NeuroMetrix if such Affiliate owns or controls the Device business, or (ii) the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of NeuroMetrix (or of an Affiliate of NeuroMetrix if such Affiliate owns or controls the Device business) entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of NeuroMetrix (or its Affiliate, if applicable); (b) the consummation by NeuroMetrix (or by an Affiliate of NeuroMetrix if such Affiliate owns or controls the Device business) of any acquisition, merger or consolidation involving any Third Party; (c) NeuroMetrix or one of its Affiliates
business transaction with a Third Party granting the Third Party the right to market, sell or distribute the Device in one or more countries in the Territory. “Design and Regulatory Documentation” has the meaning set forth in the Purchase Agreement. “Development” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “Development Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “Development Costs” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “Development Plan” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement.



 

3 “Device” means a TENS device (including all associated Software, mobile applications and associated cloud database services) as developed and modified by GSK pursuant to the Development Agreement, and including any modifications or developments made separately by or on behalf of GSK under any Development Plan under the Development Agreement, as well as may be further developed or modified by or on behalf of NeuroMetrix or any Third Party after the effective date of this Termination Agreement that is available to consumers for purchase without a prescription from a licensed medical professional. “Device” excludes any product for which a prescription is needed to purchase the device. “Dollars” or “$” means United States Dollars. “Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “European Union” means the economic, scientific and political organization of member states as it may be constituted from time to time, but including the United Kingdom. “EU Royalty” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.1. “Ex-EU Royalty” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.2. “Ex-US License Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration and any successor agency thereto. “Field” means the treatment of pain in humans by TENS delivered by means of a Device. “First Commercial Sale” means, with respect to the Device and a country, the first sale for monetary value by NeuroMetrix, its Affiliates or licensee in such country for use or consumption by the end user of such Device in each country. NeuroMetrix’s, its Affiliates’ or its or their sublicensees’ transfer of any Device to an Affiliate or sublicensee shall not be construed as a First Commercial Sale. “Government Official” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1.4. “GSK” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “GSK Arising IP” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “GSK Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “Losses” means any and all losses, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and expenses). “Net Sales” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “NeuroMetrix” has the m
Agreement, and Assignment Agreement between the Parties and effective as of January 12, 2018. “Party” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “Patents” has the meaning set forth in the Purchase Agreement.



 

4 “Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4. “Person” means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture or other similar entity or organization, including a government or political subdivision, department or agency of a government. “Purchase Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “Purchased Assets” has the meaning set forth in Annex B to this Termination Agreement. “Released Claims” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1. “Released Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1. “Releasing Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1. “Software” has the meaning set forth in the Development Agreement. “SPV” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “TENS” means transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation. “Termination Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto. “Territory” means all of the countries in the world other than the United States. “Third Party” means any Person other than NeuroMetrix, GSK, and their respective Affiliates. “Third Party Claims” means any and all suits, investigations, claims or demands of Third Parties. “Transferred Assets” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3. “VAT” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4.2. 1.2. Construction. The captions and headings to this Termination Agreement are for convenience only and are to be of no force or effect in construing or interpreting any of the provisions of this Termination Agreement. Unless context otherwise clearly requires, whenever used in this Termination Agreement: (i) the words “include” or “including” shall be construed as incorporating, also, “but not limited to” or “without limitation;” (ii) the word “day” or “year” means a calendar day or Calendar Year unless otherwise specified; (iii) the word “notice” means notice in writing (whether or not specifically stated) and shall include notices, consents, approvals and other written communications contemplated under this Termination Agreement; (iv) the words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereby” and derivative or similar words refer to this Termination Agreement (including any Annexes); (v) the word “or” shall be construed as the inclusive meaning id
by written agreement, letter, email communication, approved minutes or otherwise; (vii) words of any gender include the other gender; (viii) words using the singular or plural number also include the plural or singular number, respectively; (ix) the words “on behalf of” a Party shall not be construed to include either Party’s performance of activities for or on behalf of the other Party; and (x) references to any specific Law shall be deemed to include the then- current amendments thereto or any replacement thereof. This Termination Agreement is in the English language only, which language shall be controlling in all respects, and all versions hereof



 

5 in any other language shall not be binding on the parties hereto. All communications and notices to be made or given pursuant to this Termination Agreement shall be in the English language. Any capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Development Agreement or Asset Purchase Agreement between the Parties, as applicable. In the event of any conflict among the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the Development Agreement or this Termination Agreement, the terms of the Termination Agreement shall apply. 2. Termination 2.1. Termination of Development Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Termination Agreement and without any further action of the Parties, the Development Agreement is hereby terminated effective as of the Effective Date. From and upon the Effective Date, and except as otherwise provided herein and to the extent required to interpret this Termination Agreement, the Development Agreement is of no further force or effect, and the rights and obligations of each of the Parties thereunder have terminated, including, without limitation, GSK’s commercial launch diligence obligations under Section 3.9.1 of the Development Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, neither Party shall have any further financial obligation to the other Party except as set forth herein, and, accordingly, GSK will not be required to make any (a) development or regulatory milestone payments to NeuroMetrix as provided under Section 6.1.1 of the Development Agreement or (b) payments for Development Costs as provided under Section 6.2 of the Development Agreement, in both cases (a) and (b) which have not already actually been paid by GSK to NeuroMetrix prior to the Effective Date. 2.2. Effects of Termination of Development Agreement. Notwithstanding any provision of the Development Agreement to the contrary, and except as otherwise provided hereunder, no rights or obligations of, or licenses granted to or by, the Parties under the Development Agreement shall survive. The Parties agree that, for the avoidance of doubt, none of the consequences of termination or expiration of the Development Agreement as provided under Section 11.4 of the Development Agreement (“Consequences of Termination and Expiration”), or as provided und
Development Agreement expired upon the Effective Date and are of no further force or effect. 2.3. Termination of Assignment Agreement and Ex-US License Agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Termination Agreement, GSK hereby assigns back to NeuroMetrix the Ex-US License Agreement effective as of the Effective Date. For the avoidance of doubt, from and after the Effective Date, with respect to GSK, its rights and obligations under the Ex-US License Agreement shall also terminate as of the Effective Date. Further, as of the Effective Date, GSK shall have no further financial obligation to NeuroMetrix or SPV under the Ex-US License Agreement or under any of SPV’s organizational documents, including that certain Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of SPV, dated as of January 12, 2018. 2.4. Effects of Termination of Assignment Agreement and Ex-US License Agreement. Notwithstanding any provision of the Assignment Agreement or the Ex-US License Agreement to the contrary, no rights or obligations of, or licenses granted to or by, the Parties thereunder shall survive.



 

6 2.5. Termination of Other Agreements. The Parties agree that the CDA and Standstill Agreement are terminated as of the Effective Date and that no rights or obligations of the Parties thereunder shall survive. 3. Assignment 3.1. Effective as of the Effective Date, and pursuant to the execution of the Bill of Sale in the form attached hereto as Annex C, GSK will assign and transfer to NeuroMetrix all of GSK’s right, title and interest in and to the Purchased Assets (including, for the avoidance of doubt, GSK’s membership interests in SPV), as such term is defined in the Purchase Agreement and GSK’s right, title and interest in and to the GSK Arising IP (in its then-existing form), which for the avoidance of doubt may include any improvements to the Purchased Assets, in each case as set forth in Annex A. 3.2. In furtherance of the assignment of the Patents and patent rights listed on Annex A and Exhibit A of Annex B, GSK will deliver to NMX an executed Patent Assignment Agreement in the form attached hereto as Annex D. 3.3. In furtherance of the assignment of GSK’s membership interests in the SPV, GSK will deliver to NMX an executed Second Amended and Restated Agreement of the SPV in the form attached hereto as Annex E. 3.4. The Purchased Assets and the GSK Arising IP assigned from GSK to NeuroMetrix under Section 3.1 shall collectively be referred to as the “Transferred Assets.” 3.5. NeuroMetrix shall be solely responsible for any costs, fees and expenses associated with the assignment and transfer of the Transferred Assets, and shall reimburse GSK, within forty- five (45) days of delivery of an invoice from GSK, for any such costs, fees and expenses incurred by GSK up to the amount of $90,000 (Ninety Thousand Dollars). 4. Royalties 4.1. Royalty Payments by NeuroMetrix to GSK. As further consideration for the rights granted to NeuroMetrix hereunder, NeuroMetrix shall pay to GSK a royalty, within sixty (60) days of the end of each Calendar Year, on Net Sales of any Device to Third Parties in the Territory, on a country-by-country basis, for such Calendar Year as follows: 4.1.1. commencing upon the First Commercial Sale of the Device in the Field in any country in the European Union and for ten (10) years thereafter in such country, but not to exceed fifteen (15) years from th
commencing upon the First Commercial Sale of the Device in the Field in other countries outside of the European Union and US and for ten (10) years thereafter in each country, but not to exceed fifteen (15) years from the Effective Date, NeuroMetrix will make an annual royalty payment (the “Ex-EU Royalty”) to GSK with respect to such Device in such country in the amount of 8% (eight percent) of Net Sales outside of the EU and outside of the U.S. 4.1.3. In the event of a Change of Control Transaction, the EU Royalty and Ex- EU Royalty payments payable to GSK under this Termination Agreement shall continue to apply to any acquiror or successor of NeuroMetrix or its Affiliates or of the Device business (as



 

7 applicable) on the same terms and conditions as applicable to NeuroMetrix hereunder. In conjunction with any such Change of Control Transaction, NeuroMetrix or its Affiliate, as applicable, shall ensure that such acquirer or successor shall expressly assume in writing this Termination Agreement. 4.2. Reports; Financial Records. NeuroMetrix shall calculate all amounts payable to GSK pursuant to this Article 4 at the end of each Calendar Year, which amounts shall be converted to Dollars in accordance with Section 4.3. Each payment of royalties due to GSK shall be accompanied by a statement of the amount of gross sales and Net Sales of the Device in each country in the Territory during the applicable Calendar Year (including such amounts expressed in local currency and as converted to Dollars), and a calculation of the amount of royalty payment due on such Net Sales for such Calendar Year. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, NeuroMetrix shall require its Affiliates and sublicensees to keep complete and accurate financial books and records pertaining to the Commercialization of the Device hereunder and to account for its Net Sales and provide such reports with respect thereto as if such sales were made by NeuroMetrix. NeuroMetrix shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and its and their sublicensees and subcontractors to, retain such books and records until the later of (a) three (3) years after the end of the period to which such books and records pertain and (b) the expiration of the applicable tax statute of limitations (or any extensions thereof) or for such longer period as may be required by Applicable Law. 4.3. Mode of Payment. All payments to either Party under this Termination Agreement shall be made by deposit of Dollars in the requisite amount to such bank account as the receiving Party may from time to time designate by notice to the paying Party. For the purpose of calculating any sums due under, or otherwise reimbursable pursuant to, this Termination Agreement, including without limitation any Net Sales and royalties due hereunder, a Party shall convert any amount expressed in a foreign currency into Dollar equivalents in a manner consistent with the Party’s customary and usual conversion procedures, used to prepare its audited financial statements for external reporting purpos
paid free and clear of any and all taxes, except for any withholding taxes required by Applicable Law. Except as provided in this Section 4.4, each Party shall be responsible for paying any and all taxes (other than withholding taxes required by Applicable Law to be deducted from Payments and remitted by the payor Party) levied on such Party on account of, or measured in whole or in part by reference to, any Payments it makes or receives. NeuroMetrix shall deduct or withhold from the Payments any taxes that it is required by Applicable Law to deduct or withhold. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if GSK is entitled under any applicable tax treaty to a reduction of rate of, or the elimination of, applicable withholding tax, it may deliver to NeuroMetrix or the appropriate governmental authority (with the assistance of NeuroMetrix to the extent that this is reasonably required and is expressly requested in writing) the prescribed forms necessary to reduce the applicable rate of withholding or to relieve NeuroMetrix of its obligation to withhold such tax, and NeuroMetrix shall apply the reduced rate of withholding or dispense with withholding, as the case may be; provided that NeuroMetrix has received evidence, in a form satisfactory to it, of GSK’s delivery of all applicable forms (and, if necessary, its receipt of appropriate governmental authorization) at least fifteen (15) days prior to



 

8 the time that the Payments are due. If, in accordance with the foregoing, NeuroMetrix withholds any amount, it shall pay to GSK the balance when due, make timely payment to the proper taxing authority of the withheld amount and send to GSK proof of such payment within ten (10) days following such payment, and provide GSK with reasonable documentation or other assistance as necessary to enable GSK to claim any available credit or other allowance for such withheld amount. 4.4.2. Value Added Tax. Notwithstanding anything contained in Section 4.4.1, this Section 4.4.2 shall apply with respect to value added tax (“VAT”). All Payments are exclusive of VAT. If any VAT is chargeable in respect of any Payments, NeuroMetrix shall pay VAT at the applicable rate in respect of any such Payments following the receipt of a VAT invoice in the appropriate form issued by GSK in respect of those Payments, such VAT to be payable on the later of the due date of the payment of the Payments to which such VAT relates and thirty (30) days after the receipt by NeuroMetrix of the applicable invoice relating to that VAT payment. 4.5. Audit. 4.5.1. Procedures. At the request of GSK, NeuroMetrix shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and sublicensees to, permit an independent auditor designated by GSK and reasonably acceptable to NeuroMetrix, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, to audit the books and records maintained pursuant to Section 4.2 solely pertaining to the Device to ensure the accuracy of all reports and payments made hereunder. Such examinations may not (i) be conducted for any Calendar Quarter more than three (3) years after the end of such quarter, (ii) be conducted more than once in any twelve (12) month period (unless a previous audit during such twelve (12)-month period revealed an underpayment (or with respect to any reimbursement, an overpayment) with respect to such period) or (iii) be repeated for any Calendar Quarter. Except as provided below, the cost of this audit shall be borne by GSK, unless the audit reveals a variance of more than five percent (5%) from the reported amounts, in which case NeuroMetrix shall bear the cost of the audit. Unless disputed pursuant to Section 4.5.2 below, if such audit concludes that (x) additional amounts were owed by NeuroMetrix, NeuroMe
completed by GSK. 4.5.2. Audit Dispute. In the event of a dispute with respect to any audit under Section 4.5, NeuroMetrix and GSK shall work in good faith to resolve the dispute. If the Parties are unable to reach a mutually acceptable resolution of any such dispute within thirty (30) days, the dispute, if the disputed amount is more than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000), shall be submitted for resolution to a certified public accounting firm jointly selected by each Party’s certified public accountants or to such other Person as the Parties shall mutually agree (the “Auditor”). The decision of the Auditor shall be final and the costs of such arbitration as well as the initial audit shall be borne between the Parties in such manner as the Auditor shall determine. Not later than ten (10) days after such decision and in accordance with such decision, the applicable Party shall pay the amounts owed. 5. Release 5.1. Effective upon the Effective Date, each of GSK and NeuroMetrix, on behalf of themselves and each of their respective Affiliates and successors and assigns, heirs, trustees, administrators and executors (each, a “Releasing Party”), hereby irrevocably waives, acquits, remises, discharges and forever releases each of the other Party and their Affiliates and their



 

9 respective past and present directors, officers, managers, employees, agents, predecessors, successors, assigns, stockholders and members (each, a “Released Party”) from any and all liabilities and obligations to such Releasing Party of any kind or nature whatsoever, in each case whether absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, known or unknown, matured or unmatured or determined or determinable or otherwise, at law or in equity and whether arising under any Applicable Law, contract, agreement, arrangement, commitment, undertaking or understanding, whether written or oral, arising directly or indirectly from any act, omission, event or transaction occurring (or any circumstances existing) at or prior to the Effective Date, including under the Development Agreement, Ex-US License Agreement, and all other agreements entered into in connection with the Original Transaction (the “Released Claims”); provided, that this Section 5.1 shall not constitute a release or waiver of any rights of any Releasing Party under this Termination Agreement (including any provision in a pre-existing agreement deemed to survive under this Termination Agreement) or any contracts, documents, instruments or certificates contemplated to be executed or delivered hereunder, which rights shall, for clarity, not comprise “Released Claims.” GSK and NeuroMetrix, on behalf of themselves and each of the other Releasing Parties, hereby agree that no Releasing Parties shall seek to recover any amounts in connection therewith or thereunder from any Released Party (except as expressly provided for in this Agreement). Each Releasing Party understands that this is a full and final general release of all claims, demands, damages, judgments, causes of action and liabilities of any nature whatsoever except as expressly stated above, whether or not known, suspected or claimed, that could have been asserted in any legal or equitable proceeding against the Released Parties. Each Releasing Party represents and warrants to the Released Parties that (i) it has not voluntarily or, to its knowledge, involuntarily assigned, conveyed or otherwise transferred, or purported to assign, convey or otherwise transfer, to any person any Released Claims released by such Releasing Parties, (ii) no person other than such Releasing Parties has any intere
released by such Releasing Parties. Each Releasing Party acknowledges that the laws of many states provide substantially the following: “A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.” Each Releasing Party acknowledges that such provisions are designed to protect a person from waiving claims which it does not know exist or may exist. Effective as of the Effective Date, the Releasing Parties shall be deemed to waive any such provision. GSK and NeuroMetrix, on behalf of themselves and all other Releasing Parties, as applicable, irrevocably covenant not to, directly or indirectly, sue, or commence, knowingly aid or prosecute or cause to be commenced, knowingly aided or prosecuted any proceeding, or authorize any other person to commence or prosecute any Proceeding, against any of the Released Parties in respect of any liability, obligation or claim released under this Section 5.1. 6. Indemnity; Limitations on Liability 6.1. Indemnification by GSK. GSK hereby agrees to indemnify NeuroMetrix Indemnified Parties from and against any Losses resulting from Third Party Claims arising out of a material breach of GSK’s representations and warranties contained herein or a material breach of any of its other obligations under this Termination Agreement, by or on behalf of GSK or any



 

10 of its Affiliates, provided that such indemnification and defense obligation shall not apply to the extent that such Losses are the subject of an indemnification obligation by NeuroMetrix under Section 6.2, as to which Losses each Party shall indemnify the other to the extent of their respective liability for such Losses. 6.2. Indemnification by NeuroMetrix. NeuroMetrix hereby agrees to indemnify GSK Indemnified Parties from and against any Losses resulting from Third Party Claims arising out of (i) a material breach of NeuroMetrix’s representations and warranties contained herein or a material breach of any of its other obligations under this Termination Agreement, by or on behalf of NeuroMetrix or any of its Affiliates, and (ii) any development or commercialization of the Device whether prior to or after the Effective Date; provided that such indemnification and defense obligation shall not apply to the extent that such Losses are the subject of an indemnification obligation by GSK under Section 6.1, as to which Losses each Party shall indemnify the other to the extent of their respective liability for such Losses. 6.3. Indemnification Procedure. The provisions set forth in Section 10.3 of the Development Agreement are incorporated by reference and made a part of this Termination Agreement, mutatis mutandis. 6.4. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. EXCEPT FOR INDEMNIFICATION WITH RESPECT TO THIRD PARTY CLAIMS UNDER ARTICLE 6 OF THIS TERMINATION AGREEMENT, IN NO EVENT WILL ANY PARTY’S LIABILITY OF ANY KIND INCLUDE ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE LOSSES OR DAMAGES, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, WARRANTY, NEGLIGENCE, TORT, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE, EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. 7. Confidentiality 7.1. Confidentiality. Article 8 of the Development Agreement (“Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure”) is hereby incorporated into this Agreement in whole and the terms and conditions described thereunder shall continue to govern. “Confidential Information” shall also include the existence of this Termination Agreement, the terms and conditions hereof, and the transactions contemplated hereunder
the extent required by Applicable Law or the rules of any national securities exchange on which the securities of such Party are listed or traded, and without first obtaining the prior written consent of the other Party with respect to the format and content of such public announcement, including any proposed redactions of this Termination Agreement or any other agreements being terminated hereunder. Neither Party may issue any public disclosure, including any press release, regarding this Termination Agreement or the termination of the agreements being terminated hereunder (including any related understandings), except in a form as mutually agreed upon by the Parties in advance, and only to the extent required by Applicable Law or the rules of any national securities exchange on which the securities of such Party are listed or traded. Without limiting the foregoing, the initial SEC filing NeuroMetrix shall issue to disclose this Termination Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein shall be in the form attached hereto as Annex D.



 

11 8. Representations and Warranties 8.1. Each Party represents, warrants, and with respect to Section 8.1.4, covenants to the other that: 8.1.1. it is duly organized and validly existing under the Applicable Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, and has full corporate power and authority to enter into this Termination Agreement and to carry out the provisions hereof; 8.1.2. it is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Termination Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder, and the person executing this Termination Agreement on its behalf has been duly authorized to do so by all requisite corporate action; and 8.1.3. this Termination Agreement is legally binding upon it and enforceable in accordance with its terms subject to the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws of general application affecting the enforcement of creditor rights and judicial principles affecting the availability of specific performance and general principles of equity, whether enforceability is considered a proceeding at law or equity. The execution, delivery and performance of this Termination Agreement by it does not conflict with any agreement, instrument or understanding, oral or written, to which it is a party. 8.1.4. it shall comply fully at all times with all applicable laws and regulations, including but not limited to anti-corruption laws, and that it has not, and covenants that it will not, in connection with the performance of this Termination Agreement, directly or indirectly, make, promise, authorize, ratify or offer to make, or take any act in furtherance of any payment or transfer of anything of value for the purpose of influencing, inducing or rewarding any act, omission or decision to secure an improper advantage; or improperly assisting it or the other Party in obtaining or retaining business, or in any way with the purpose or effect of public or commercial bribery, and warrants that it has taken reasonable measures to prevent subcontractors, agents or any other third parties, subject to its control or determining influence, from doing so. For the avoidance of doubt this includes facilitating payments, which are unofficial, improper, small payments or gifts offered or made to Government Officials to secure or expedite a routine or necessary action to which we are legally entitled. For the purpose of this Agreement, “Govern
employee of a government or any department, agency or instrumentality of a government (which includes public enterprises, and entities owned or controlled by the state); (b) any officer or employee of a public international organization such as the World Bank or United Nations; (c) any officer or employee of a political party, or any candidate for public office; (d) any person defined as a government or public official under applicable local laws (including anti-bribery and corruption laws) and not already covered by any of the above; and/or; (e) any person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of any of the above. “Government Official” shall include any person with close family members who are Government Officials (as defined above) with the capacity, actual or perceived, to influence or take official decisions affecting the other Party’s business. 9. Miscellaneous 9.1. Rules of Construction. The Parties agree that they have been represented by counsel during the negotiation and execution of this Termination Agreement and have together



 

12 drafted this Termination Agreement and, therefore, waive the application of any Applicable Law, regulation, holding or rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or other document will be construed against the Party drafting such agreement or document. 9.2. Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given and received (a) upon receipt, if delivered personally, (b) three Business Days after deposit in the mail, if sent by registered or certified mail, (c) on the next Business Day after deposit with an overnight courier, if sent by overnight courier, (d) upon transmission, if sent by email transmission prior to 6:00 p.m., local time, in the place of receipt and receipt is confirmed or (e) on the next Business Day following transmission, if sent by email transmission after 6:00 p.m., local time, in the place of receipt and receipt is confirmed; provided that the notice or other communication is sent to the address or email address set forth beneath the name of such Party below (or to such other address or email address as such Party shall have specified in a written notice to the other Party): if to GSK, to: GSK Consumer Healthcare SARL Route de L'Etraz, 1260 Nyon Switzerland Attn: Mark P. Van Emst, Esq., Assistant General Counsel Email: mark.p.van-emst@gsk.com and: GlaxoSmithKline 980 Great West Road Brentford, Middlesex TW8 9GS, UK Attn: Vice President, Consumer Healthcare Business Development Email: Chris.Harley-Martin@gsk.com with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to: GlaxoSmithKline 980 Great West Road Brentford, Middlesex TW8 9GS, UK Attn: Corporate Secretariat Email: paul.y.williamson@gsk.com and: GlaxoSmithKline LLC 1250 South Collegeville Road Collegeville, PA 19426, USA



 

13 Attn: Vice President and Associate General Counsel, Legal - Business Development and Corporate Email: lisa.a.demarco@gsk.com and: Covington & Burling LLP One CityCenter 850 10th Street, NW Washington, D.C. 20001 Attention: Van Ellis Fax: (202) 427-1185 Email: vellis@cov.com if to NeuroMetrix, to: NeuroMetrix, Inc. 4b Gill St. Woburn, MA 01801 Attention: Shai N. Gozani Fax: 781-663-3820 Email: Shai_Gozani@neurometrix.com 9.3. Consents and Approvals. For any matter under this Termination Agreement requiring the consent or approval of either Party to be valid and binding on the Party, such consent or approval must be in writing. 9.4. Counterparts. This Termination Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic transmission in .pdf, .tiff or any similar format), all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the Parties and delivered to the other Party. 9.5. Entire Agreement. This Termination Agreement, including all Annexes attached hereto, constitutes the entire, final and exclusive agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Termination Agreement. This Termination Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, whether written or oral, with respect to the subject matter of this Termination Agreement. 9.6. No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Termination Agreement and other related documents are not intended to and do not confer upon any Person other than the Parties any legal or equitable rights; provided that the foregoing shall not preclude a Party from enforcing the indemnification provisions in favor of its Indemnified Parties. 9.7. Assignment. Neither Party shall assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights, or delegate or otherwise transfer any of its obligations or performance, under this Termination Agreement, without the other Party’s prior written consent, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned; provided that either Party may assign or otherwise transfer all or any of its rights, or delegate or otherwise tr



 

14 under this Termination Agreement to any Affiliate of such Party, or to any successor to such Party’s business or assets (in the case of NeuroMetrix, constituting all or substantially all of the Device business), whether by merger, sale of assets, sale of outstanding shares or otherwise, without the other Party’s consent; and provided further, (a) that no such assignment or transfer shall relieve the assigning or transferring Party of any of its obligations under this Termination Agreement, (b) the assignee or transferee shall expressly agree to be bound by and comply with the obligations of the assigning or transferring Party under this Termination Agreement and (c) the assigning or transferring Party shall provide written notice thereof to the other Party at least seven (7) days prior to the effective date of any such assignment or transfer. Any purported assignment, delegation or transfer in violation of the foregoing shall be void and of no force or effect. Subject to the foregoing, this Termination Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and assigns. 9.8. GOVERNING APPLICABLE LAW. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, REGARDLESS OF THE APPLICABLE LAWS THAT MIGHT OTHERWISE GOVERN UNDER APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF APPLICABLE LAWS THEREOF. 9.9. Enforcement. 9.9.1. Each Party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of (i) the state courts of New York located in New York County, and (ii) the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, for the purposes of any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated herein. Each Party agrees to commence any such action, suit or proceeding either in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York or if such suit, action or other proceeding may not be brought in such court for jurisdictional reasons, in the state courts of New York located in New York County. Each Party further agrees that service of any process, summons, notice or document by the U.S. registered mail to such Party’s respective address
unconditionally waives any objection to the laying of venue of any action, suit or proceeding arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby in (x) the state courts of New York located in New York County, and (y) the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and hereby and thereby further irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to plead or claim in any such court that any such action, suit or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. 9.9.2. EACH PARTY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL OF ANY ISSUE BY JURY. Each Party certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of the other Party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such Party would not, in the event of any action, suit or proceeding, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver and acknowledges that it and the other Party has been induced to enter into this Agreement, by, among other things, the mutual waiver and certifications in this Section 9.9.2. 9.9.3. Except for purposes of any right to indemnity under Article 6, each Party waives (i) with the exception of relief mandated by statute, any claim to punitive, exemplary, or multiplied damages and (ii) any claim for attorney fees, costs and prejudgment interest.



 

15 9.9.4. The Parties agree that irreparable damage would occur and that the Parties would not have any adequate remedy at Applicable Law in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the Parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in the state courts of New York located in New York County, and the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at Applicable Law or in equity and as further set forth in this Section 9.9. 9.10. Severability. If any term or other provision of this Termination Agreement or any related document is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of Applicable Law or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Termination Agreement or such related document shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Termination Agreement or such related document so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible. 9.11. Amendment. This Termination Agreement may be amended by the Parties at any time by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the Parties. 9.12. Extension; Waiver. As it relates to any obligation under this Termination Agreement or any related document to be performed at any time after the Effective Date, the Parties may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other Party, (b) to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained herein or in any related document or (c) to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any agreement on the part of a Party to any such extension or waiver sha
[Signature Page follows]



 

[Signature Page to Termination Agreement] THIS TERMINATION AGREEMENT is executed by the authorized representatives of the Parties as of the Effective Date. SIGNED for and on behalf of GSK CONSUMER HEALTHCARE SARL Signature: Name: Title: SIGNED for and on behalf of NEUROMETRIX, INC. Signature: Name: Title: Electronically signed by: Isabelle Gundel Reason: I am signing for the reasons as stated in the document. Date: Jun 30, 2021 11:36 GMT+2 Senior Patent Attorney Isabelle Gundel Electronically signed by: Mark van Emst Reason: I am signing for the reasons as stated in the document. Date: Jun 30, 2021 12:43 GMT+2 Legal Director Mark van Emst
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Annex B Purchased Assets The term “Purchased Assets” has the meaning set forth in the Section 2.2 of the Purchase Agreement and includes, without limitation, all of GSK’s and its Affiliates’ right, title and interest in, to and under the following properties and assets (tangible or intangible), as in existence as of the Effective Date of the Termination Agreement: (i) all Patents set forth in Schedule 2.2(a)(i) of the Purchase Agreement and existing as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, as set forth in Exhibit A to this Annex B; (ii) a copy of all Design and Regulatory Documentation existing as of the closing date of the Purchase Agreement (as such date is defined in Section 2.4 of the Purchase Agreement); (iii) membership interests of SPV corresponding to 50% of SPV s voting and total membership interests (the “SPV Interests”); and (iv) all claims, counterclaims, credits, causes of action, choses in action, rights of recovery, and rights of indemnification or setoff against third parties and other claims arising out of or relating to any of the foregoing. With respect to (ii) above, GSK may retain a digital copy of the medical device technical file for archival purposes to the extent required by Applicable Law.



 



 

NY: 1289573-1 Annex C Form of Bill of Sale BILL OF SALE This BILL OF SALE (this “Bill of Sale”) is made as of [date], 2021, between GSK Consumer Healthcare SARL, a société à responsabilité limitée organized under the laws of Switzerland (“GSK”), and NeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“NeuroMetrix”). W I T N E S E T H WHEREAS, GSK and NeuroMetrix have entered into that certain Termination Agreement, dated as of [date], 2021 (the “Termination Agreement”), pursuant to which GSK has agreed to convey, deliver, transfer and assign to NeuroMetrix all right, title and interest in, to and under all of the Transferred Assets in consideration of the royalty payments to be made by and the other covenants of, NeuroMetrix under the Termination Agreement, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein. NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, GSK and NeuroMetrix, intending to be legally bound hereby, do hereby agree as follows: 1. Defined Terms; Interpretation. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Termination Agreement. This Bill of Sale shall be interpreted in accordance with the rules of construction set forth in Section 1.2 of the Termination Agreement. 2. Transfer and Assignment of Assets. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of the Termination Agreement, GSK does hereby convey, deliver, transfer and assign to NeuroMetrix and its successors and assigns, and NeuroMetrix does hereby take delivery of and acquire from GSK, all of GSK’s right, title and interest in, to and under the Transferred Assets. 3. Construction; Successors. Nothing contained in this Bill of Sale shall in any way supersede, modify, replace, amend, change, rescind, waive, exceed, expand, enlarge or in any way affect the provisions set forth in the Termination Agreement nor shall this Bill of Sale reduce, expand or enlarge any remedies under the Termination Agreement. This Bill of Sale is intended only to effect the assignment, transfer, conveyance and delivery of the Transferred Assets by GSK to NeuroMetrix pursuant to the Termination Agreement and shall be governed entirely in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Termination A
Law; Amendment. THIS BILL OF SALE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, REGARDLESS OF THE APPLICABLE LAWS THAT MIGHT



 

OTHERWISE GOVERN UNDER APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF APPLICABLE LAWS THEREOF. This Bill of Sale may not be waived or amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto. 5. Counterparts. This Bill of Sale may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic transmission in .pdf, .tiff or any similar format), all of which shall be considered one and the same Bill of Sale and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party. [Signature Page Follows]



 

NY: 1289561-2 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Bill of Sale to be executed as of the date first written above. GSK CONSUMER HEALTHCARE SARL By: Name: Title: NEUROMETRIX, INC. By: Name: Title:



 

6 Annex D Form of Patent Assignment Agreement PATENT ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT This PATENT ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made as of [date], 2021, between GSK Consumer Healthcare SARL, a société à responsabilité limitée organized under the laws of Switzerland (“Assignor”), and NeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Assignee”) (each, a “Party” and together, the “Parties”). WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Termination Agreement between Assignor and Assignee, dated as of [date], 2021 (the “Termination Agreement”), among other things, Assignor has agreed to convey, deliver, transfer and assign to Assignee all right, title and interest in, to and under all of the Transferred Assets, including the patents and patent rights listed on Annex A hereto (collectively, the “Assigned Patents”); and WHEREAS, the Parties agreed to enter into this Agreement pursuant to which Assignor shall assign to Assignee all of Assignor’s right, title and interest in, to and under the Assigned Patents. NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 1.1 Defined Terms; Interpretation. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Termination Agreement. This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the rules of construction set forth in Section 1.2 of the Termination Agreement. 2.1 Assignment. Assignor hereby conveys, delivers, transfers and assigns to Assignee, its successors and assigns, all of Assignor’s right, title and interest in, to and under the Assigned Patents, including the priority claim, if any, in the Assigned Patents, and any continuations, continuations-in-part, divisionals, reissues, reexaminations and renewals thereof, corresponding supplementary protection certificates and the like and extensions thereof. 3.1 Due Authorization. Assignor hereby authorizes and requests any official of any state or foreign country whose duty it is to issue intellectual property registrations, to issue all registrations from any applications for registration included in the Assigned Patents to Assignee. 4.1 Construction; Successors. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall in any way supersede, modify, replace, amend, change, resci
Agreement and shall be governed entirely in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Termination Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of Assignor, Assignee and their respective successors and assigns in accordance with the terms of the Termination Agreement.



 

7 5.1. Governing Law; Amendment. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, REGARDLESS OF THE APPLICABLE LAWS THAT MIGHT OTHERWISE GOVERN UNDER APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF APPLICABLE LAWS THEREOF. This Agreement may not be waived or amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the Parties. 6.1 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic transmission in .pdf, .tiff or any similar format), all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the Parties and delivered to the other Party. [Signature Page Follows]



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Patent Assignment Agreement on the date set forth above. ASSIGNOR: GSK CONSUMER HEALTHCARE SARL By: Name: Title: ASSIGNEE: NEUROMETRIX, INC. By: Name: Title:



 

2 Annex E Form of Second Amended and Restated Agreement of the SPV SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT OF QUELL INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CORP., LLC THIS SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) of QUELL INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CORP., LLC (the “Company”) is entered into as of [date], 2021, by NeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“NeuroMetrix”), as the member of the Company (the “Member” and, collectively with any other person or entity that may be admitted as a member of the Company, the “Members”). W I T N E S E T H WHEREAS, the Company was formed as a limited liability company pursuant to and in accordance with the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act (6 Del. C. § 18-101 et seq.), as amended from time to time (the “Delaware Act”), by the filing of a Certificate of Formation with the Secretary of the State of the State of Delaware on December 21, 2017 (the “Certificate”) and the adoption of the initial Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company on the same date; WHEREAS, NeuroMetrix and GSK Consumer Healthcare SARL, a société à responsabilité limitée organized under the laws of Switzerland formerly known as Novartis Consumer Health S.A., a société anonyme organized under the laws of Switzerland (“GSK”) entered into the Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company on January 12, 2018 (the “Original Agreement”); WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Termination Agreement, dated [date], 2021 (the “Termination Agreement”), by and between GSK and NeuroMetrix, GSK has agreed to transfer, and effective as of the date hereof and pursuant to a Bill of Sale dated as of the date hereof GSK has transferred, all of its membership interests in the Company, representing 50% of the total membership interests in the Company, to NeuroMetrix, and NeuroMetrix agreed to purchase, and as of the date hereof has accepted the transfer of, all of such membership interests in the Company from GSK; and WHEREAS, as a result of the foregoing, NeuroMetrix desires to amend and restate the Original Agreement in its e



 

3 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and covenants and provisions herein contained, NeuroMetrix hereby agrees as follows: 1. Name. The name of the limited liability company is Quell Intellectual Property Corp., LLC. The business of the Company may be conducted under that name or, upon compliance with applicable Law, any other name that the Members deem appropriate or advisable, other than any name or trade name belonging to either Member, and in any case as approved by Consent of the Members. 2. Principal Business Office; Registered Agent. The principal business office of the Company shall be located at 1000 Winter Street, Waltham, MA 02451, or such other location as may hereafter be determined by Consent of the Members. The location of the Company’s principal place of business may be changed at any time and from time to time by Consent of the Members. The name and address of the registered agent for service of process for the Company in the State of Delaware shall be the Corporation Service Company, 251 Little Falls Drive, City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware, or such other agent as may be designated by Consent of the Members. 3. Purpose. 3.1 The Company is formed for the sole object and purpose of, and the sole nature of the business to be conducted and promoted by the Company is: (a) to hold all Contributed Assets, as defined in, and as contributed to the Company by NeuroMetrix pursuant to, that certain Contribution Agreement dated December 21, 2017 (the “Contribution Agreement”), and to engage in any activities and transactions related thereto; (b) to own, hold, manage and defend, all of the Contributed Assets; (c) to license to NeuroMetrix certain of the Contributed Assets pursuant to certain license agreements entered into with NeuroMetrix on December 21, 2017 (collectively, the “License Agreements”); (d) to pay the organizational, start-up and routine transactional and maintenance expenses of the Company, including the creation, assumption or incurrence of obligations to pay service providers to the Company and other ordinary course expenses of maintaining its existence and carrying out its various purposes under this Agreement; (e) to accept capital contributions from time to time from the Members; and (f) subject to Sec
of any and all



 

4 commercially reasonable actions to defend the Contributed Assets against any infringement as contemplated by the Material Agreements or any breach of any of the Material Agreements by any party obligated thereunder, in each case in accordance with such Material Agreements, and any and all commercially reasonable actions in connection with any bankruptcy of any Member as reasonably requested by the other Member(s)). 3.2 The Company, by or through both Members acting collectively or, subject to the Consent of the Members, by any Manager on behalf of the Company, may enter into and perform the obligations set forth under the Material Agreements to which it is a party and all documents, agreements, certificates, or financing statements contemplated thereby or related thereto, and establish one or more bank accounts. For purposes of this Agreement, “Material Agreements” shall mean (a) the Contribution Agreement and (b) the License Agreements. 3.3 Notwithstanding any provision hereof or any other document governing the formation, management or operation of the Company to the contrary, the Company shall be a “special purpose entity” and shall not perform any act or permit any act to be performed that would be inconsistent with its status as a special purpose entity. 4. Members. 4.1 The name and the mailing address of each Member are as set forth on Schedule A. The Members shall hold membership interests in the Company in the percentages set forth on Schedule A (“Interests”), as such schedule may be amended from time to time by Consent of the Members. 4.2 The Members shall have the power to exercise any and all rights and powers granted to the Members pursuant to the express terms of this Agreement. 4.3 The Members acknowledge and agree that (a) as of the date hereof, and subject to the terms of the Termination Agreement (including the releases contained in Section 5 thereof), GSK has ceased to be a Member of the Company, and (b) the terms of this Agreement shall not apply to GSK other than (i) for purposes of acknowledging such cessation of status as a Member and (ii) as provided in Section 16. 5. Powers of the Company and the Members. 5.1 Subject to this Section 5, the Company (a) shall have the power and authority to take any and all actions necessary, approp
to the Delaware Act and (c) shall be represented in the taking of such actions by the Managers, in accordance with Section 6, or otherwise as determined by Consent of the Members. 5.2 Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or as otherwise expressly authorized or delegated by Consent of the Members, and notwithstanding any provision of Law that otherwise so empowers the Company, the Members, any Manager or any other Person, none of the Company or any Member, nor any Manager or any other Person, shall be authorized or empowered, nor shall they permit the Company to take any action or perform



 

5 any act without the prior Consent of the Members. For purposes of this Agreement, “Consent of the Members” shall mean the unanimous written approval of all Members. 5.3 The Members and the Managers shall cause the Company to do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep in full force and effect its existence, rights (charter and statutory) and franchises; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to preserve any such right or franchise if all the Members shall determine that the preservation thereof is no longer desirable for the conduct of the Company’s business and that the loss thereof is not disadvantageous in any material respect to the Company and is not otherwise inconsistent with the terms, obligations and limitations contained herein. The Members and the Managers shall also cause the Company at all times to: (a) remain solvent and pay its debts and liabilities (including, as applicable, fairly allocated obligations in connection with personnel and overhead expenses) from its assets as they become due; (b) subject to Section 5.4(r), maintain an arm’s-length relationship in all dealings with the Members and their respective Affiliates, and only upon terms and conditions that are intrinsically fair and substantially similar to those that would be available at an arm’s-length basis with Third Parties; (c) hold itself out to the public and all other Persons, and identify itself, as a legal entity separate from each of the Members, their respective Affiliates or any other Person, and otherwise not identify itself as a division or part of another Person, including any Member and any of its respective Affiliates, and correct any known misunderstanding regarding its status as a separate entity; (d) maintain adequate financial statements, books, records, bank accounts and other business records (including stationery and invoices) separate and apart from those of any of the Members and their respective Affiliates; (e) allocate fairly and reasonably any shared expenses, including shared office space; (f) act and conduct its business solely in its own name, whether directly or through any agent, without confusing use of any trade names related to any of the Members and their respective Affiliates, or any other Third Party; (g) file its own tax returns (unless prohibited by applicable Law from do
organizational and corporate formalities necessary to maintain its separate existence, and conduct itself so as to avoid any other grounds for exposure as an alter ego of any of the Members or any of their respective Affiliates;



 

6 (i) preserve its existence as an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under Delaware Law; (j) maintain adequate capital in light of its contemplated business purpose, operations, transactions and liabilities and pay its own expenses from such capital, including the salaries of its own employees, if any; (k) act only pursuant to written consent or by resolutions taken at a duly convened meeting, in each case subject to the approval requirements set forth in this Agreement, and keep minutes of such meetings and actions and observe all other Delaware limited liability company formalities; and (l) cause the Managers, agents and other representatives of the Company to act at all times with respect to the Company consistently and in furtherance of the foregoing and in the best interests of the Company. 5.4 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement and any provision of Law, the Company shall not (and the Members, any Manager or any other Person shall not cause the Company to), without the Consent of the Members: (a) enter into any Contract or any transaction or series of related transactions with any Person (including with any Member or Affiliate thereof); (b) institute or file any proceedings to have the Company be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent, or consent to the institution or filing of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against the Company, or file a petition seeking, or consent to, reorganization or relief with respect to the Company under any applicable federal or state Law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, relief from debts or the protection of debtors, or seek or consent to the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator, custodian (or other similar official) of the Company or a substantial part of its property, or make any assignment for the benefit of creditors of the Company, or take any action that is intended to cause the Company to become insolvent, or declare or effectuate a moratorium on the payment of any of the Company’s obligations, or take any action in furtherance of any of the foregoing; (c) admit in writing the Company’s inability to pay its debts generally as they become due; (d) dissolve or liquidate; (e) change its legal structure, or change its corporate type or otherwise convert its legal status or cease to be a limited liability company;
any indebtedness of any other Person, whether secured or unsecured, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent;



 

7 (h) grant or suffer to exist any lien, security interest or other encumbrances on any of its assets, for its own behalf or for the benefit of any Member, its respective Affiliates or any other Person; (i) guarantee or otherwise become liable for any indebtedness of any of the Members, their respective Affiliates or any other Person, hold itself out to be responsible for the indebtedness of any other Person, or hold out its credit as being available to satisfy the obligations of any other Person, including any of the Members and any of their respective Affiliates; (j) issue any additional Interest in the Company; (k) acquire any securities or other obligations of any of the Members, any of their respective Affiliates or any other Person; (l) engage in any business other than as set forth in Section 3; (m) commingle or pool Company funds and assets with those of any of the Members, their respective Affiliates, or any other Person; (n) own any assets or property other than (i) the Contributed Assets, and (ii) incidental personal and intangible property related to the ownership of the Contributed Assets; (o) own any subsidiary or make an investment in any Person; (p) fail to do or cause to be done all things necessary to observe organizational formalities and preserve its existence, or amend, modify, or otherwise change the organizational documents of the Company; (q) permit any of the Members or any of their respective Affiliates independent access to its bank accounts; (r) except for the Material Agreements, engage in any transaction with any of the Members or any of their respective Affiliates; (s) initiate any litigation; or (t) take any action in furtherance of any of the foregoing, or agree to do any of the foregoing. 5.5 Failure of the Company, any Member, any Manager or any other Person acting on behalf of the Company, to comply with any of the foregoing provisions in this Section 5 or any other covenants contained in this Agreement shall not affect the status of the Company as a separate legal entity or the limited liability of the Members or the Managers.



 

8 6. Management. 6.1 Managers. (a) Appointment. The Company may have one or more managers (each, a “Manager”), to act on behalf of the Company as such powers may be delegated or authorized only by Consent of the Members. Any Managers shall be designated by Consent of the Members. (b) Removal. Each Manager shall serve until removed and such Manager’s successor is duly designated and qualified or until such Manager’s earlier death, retirement or incapacity. Any Manager may be removed with or without cause by the Member with the right to designate such Manager. Any Manager so removed shall be replaced by a Manager designated by the Member with the right to designate the removed Manager. (c) Resignation. Any Manager may resign at any time by delivering his resignation to the Members in writing or by electronic transmission, such resignation to specify whether it will be effective at a particular time, upon receipt by the Members or at the pleasure of the Members. If no such specification is made, it shall be deemed effective at the pleasure of the Members. Any Manager so resigning shall be replaced by a Manager designated by the Member with the right to designate the resigning Manager. (d) Compensation; Expenses. The Managers shall not be entitled to any compensation; provided that the Managers may be paid their reasonable, documented out-of- pocket expenses, if any, incurred in connection with performing their duties. (e) Managers as Agents. The Managers shall have only those powers and shall perform only those actions as may be authorized or delegated by Consent of the Members, and in such event the Managers shall be agents of the Company for the purpose of the Company’s business, and the actions of the Managers taken in accordance with such powers shall bind the Company. Notwithstanding the last sentence of Section 18-402 of the Delaware Act, except as provided in this Agreement, a Manager may not bind the Company. 6.2 Meetings of the Members. (a) Time and Place. The Members may hold meetings, both regular and special, within or outside the State of Delaware. Regular meetings of the Members may be held without notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to time be determined by Consent of the Members. Special meetings of the M
the Members. At all meetings of the Members, the presence of all Members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and any such actions may only be approved by Consent of the Members, except where otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting, the Members present at such meeting may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present. Any action required or



 

9 permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Members may be taken without a meeting if all of the Members consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Members. (c) Electronic Communications. Members may participate in meetings by means of telephone conference or similar communications equipment that allows all Persons participating in the meeting to hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in Person at the meeting. If all the participants are participating by telephone conference or similar communications equipment, the meeting shall be deemed to be held at the principal place of business of the Company. 6.3 Subject to the Consent of the Members, (a) the Company may appoint, employ, or otherwise contract with such other Persons for the transaction of the business of the Company or the performance of services for, or on behalf of, the Company as the Members shall determine, subject to the terms and limitations contained herein and (b) the Members may delegate to any such other Person, such authority to act on behalf of the Company as the Members may from time to time deem appropriate. The agents of the Company shall not be entitled to salaries or other compensation, unless otherwise approved with the Consent of the Members. 7. Capital Contributions. 7.1 The Members shall be required to make additional capital contributions, from time to time, sufficient to cover the expenses related to the maintenance of the Company and its assets, pro rata in accordance with their Interests and in such amounts as shall be determined by the Members (each, a “Working Capital Contribution” and, together with any other capital contribution to the Company, the “Capital Contributions”). In the event that any Member (a “Contributing Member”), in its reasonable judgment, determines that a Working Capital Contribution would be necessary to cover the expenses described in this Section 7.1, the Contributing Member shall give notice of such determination to the other Member(s) (a “Contribution Notice”), specifying the aggregate amount of the proposed Working Capital Contribution and the pro rata portion to be so contributed by such other Member(s) (each, a “Notified Member”), and such Notified Member(s) sha
of a Working Capital Contribution within such 20-day period, the Contributing Member shall be entitled to make such Capital Contribution itself in lieu of such Notified Member and, in case such Working Capital Contributions are finally determined to have been necessary in accordance with Section 23, the Contributing Member shall be entitled to recover such amount from the Notified Member, together with interest on such amount from the end of the 20-day period specified in the relevant Contribution Notice until the actual date of payment at a rate per annum equal to the prime interest rate published in The Wall Street Journal on the date such interest begins accruing. 7.2 Other than the Working Capital Contributions as set forth in Section 7.1, the Members may (with the Consent of the Members), but are not required to, make any additional Capital Contribution or otherwise provide any additional funds to the Company. To



 

10 the extent that the Members make any additional Capital Contribution to the Company (including any amounts made pursuant to Section 7.1), the Members shall revise the books and records of the Company to reflect such Capital Contribution. The provisions of this Agreement, including this Section 7.2, are intended to benefit the Members and, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, shall not be construed as conferring any benefit upon any creditor of the Company (and no other creditor of the Company shall be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement). The Members shall not have any duty or obligation to any creditor of the Company to make any Capital Contribution to the Company or to issue any call for capital pursuant to this Agreement. 7.3 No Member shall have the right to receive the return of all or any part of any Capital Contribution or capital account, or any other distribution. No Member shall have any right to demand and receive property of the Company in exchange for all or any portion of its Capital Contributions, except as provided in Section 18 upon dissolution and liquidation of the Company. No interest or preferred return shall accrue or be paid on any Capital Contribution or capital account. 8. Tax Status. The Company has elected to be classified as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes from the date of its formation and such election has not been revoked, modified or terminated. The Members shall file all tax returns, information statements and similar documents in accordance with such classification of the Company for all U.S. federal, state and local income tax purposes unless otherwise notified by the Company that the Members have revoked such election in accordance with Section 5.4(f). 9. Distributions. Distributions shall be made to the Members at the times and in the amounts determined by Consent of the Members; provided that no distribution shall be made in violation of the Delaware Act. 10. Transfers of Interests. 10.1 No Member shall transfer, sell, assign, exchange, pledge, hypothecate, encumber, grant a security interest in or lien over, gift or otherwise dispose of in any manner, whether voluntary or involuntary, directly or indirectly, any legal, beneficial or other interest in (any of the foregoing actions, a “Transfer,” with correlative meanings given to the ter
Member shall be permitted to (a) pledge, hypothecate or encumber (i) any or all Interests in the Company owned by such Member or (ii) any direct or indirect legal or beneficial ownership interest of any form or type in such Member’s Interests or (b) grant any form of security interest in (i) Interests in the Company owned by such Member or (ii) any direct or indirect legal or beneficial ownership interest of any form or type in such Member’s Interests, in each case ((a) or (b)) to



 

11 secure indebtedness of such Member, one or more of its direct or indirect legal or beneficial owners or any other Person and owing to a bank, financial institution, institutional investor or any other Person. 10.3 Any Transfer permitted by this Section 10 shall be subject to the following: (a) No Transfer of any Interest in the Company may be made if such Transfer would cause or result in a breach of any Contract binding upon the Company or of then applicable rules and regulations of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over such Transfer. (b) In the event of any Transfer, (i) there shall be filed with the Company a duly executed and acknowledged counterpart instrument effecting such Transfer, and (ii) the Transferee shall execute a counterpart of or other writing agreeing to be bound by this Agreement, and such additional documents and instruments as shall be reasonably required by the Company. The Company shall not recognize any such Transfer unless and until all such instruments are so executed and filed. 10.4 Any attempt by a Member or one or more of its direct or indirect legal or beneficial owners to Transfer any of its Interests in the Company without compliance with Section 10.2 and Section 10.3 shall be null and void ab initio and the Company shall not give any effect to such attempted Transfer in its books and records, and such purported Transferee shall not be recognized or treated as a Member for any purpose. In the event any Member shall at any time Transfer an Interest in the Company in contravention of any of the provisions of this Agreement, then the Company and each other Member shall, in addition to all rights and remedies at law and equity, be entitled to seek, without any requirement to post a bond or other security, a decree or order restraining and enjoining such transaction, and the offending Member shall not plead in defense thereto that there would be an adequate remedy at law; it being expressly hereby acknowledged and agreed by the Members that damages at law would be an inadequate remedy for a breach or threatened breach or other violation of the provisions concerning such transaction set forth in this Agreement. 10.5 Upon any Transfer of any Interest and subject to the execution by the Transferee of a counterpart of or other writing agreeing to be bound by t
purposes of this Agreement. 11. Withdrawal and Resignation. So long as a Member continues to hold any Interests, such Member shall not have the ability to withdraw or resign as a Member or withdraw such Member’s capital from the Company prior to the dissolution and winding up of the Company, and any such withdrawal or resignation or attempted withdrawal or resignation by a Member prior to the dissolution or winding up of the Company shall be null and void. In furtherance of the foregoing, no Member shall be entitled to any distribution under Section 18-604 of the Delaware Act or any other



 

12 provision of the Delaware Act whether upon the disassociation of such Member from the Company or otherwise. As soon as any Person who is a Member ceases to hold any Interests, such Person shall no longer be a Member. 12. Admission of Additional Members. Subject to Section 10, one or more additional Members of the Company may be admitted to the Company with the Consent of the Members. 13. Limited Liability. Except as otherwise expressly provided by the Delaware Act, the debts, obligations and liabilities of the Company, whether arising in contract, tort or otherwise, shall be the debts, obligations and liabilities solely of the Company, and neither the Members nor any Manager shall be obligated personally for any such debt, obligation or liability of the Company solely by reason of being a Member or Manager of the Company. 14. Books and Records. The Managers shall keep or cause to be kept complete and accurate books of account and records with respect to the Company’s business. The books of the Company shall at all times be maintained by the Managers. The Members and their respective duly authorized representatives shall have the right to examine the Company books, records and documents during normal business hours. The Company, and the Managers on behalf of the Company, shall not have the right to keep confidential from the Members any information that the Managers would otherwise be permitted to keep confidential from the Members pursuant to Section 18-305(c) of the Delaware Act. The Company’s books of account shall be kept using the method of accounting determined by the Consent of the Members. The Company’s auditor, if any, shall be a public accounting firm selected by the Consent of the Members. 15. Tax Returns. The Managers shall cause the income tax and information returns, if any, for the Company to be prepared and timely filed with the appropriate authorities. All such tax returns shall be filed in a manner consistent with the classification of the Company pursuant to this Agreement (including any classification other than as a corporation, if applicable, as a result of an election or revocation made in accordance with Section 5.4(f)). The Company shall provide a copy of each such tax return to each Member before filing. 16. Indemnification. 16.1 E
holders, partners or employees of a Manager or the Members, and the respective Affiliates of any of the foregoing, and any officer, employee or expressly authorized agent of the Company or its Affiliates.



 

13 (b) No Covered Person shall be liable to the Company or any other Covered Person for any loss, damage or claim incurred by reason of any act or omission performed (whether or not constituting negligence) or omitted by such Covered Person in good faith on behalf of the Company (and in the case of a Member, solely in its capacity as a Member of the Company) and in a manner reasonably believed to be within the scope of authority conferred on such Covered Person by this Agreement, except that a Covered Person shall be liable for any such loss, damage or claim incurred by reason of such Covered Person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Members, acting solely in their capacities as Members of the Company, shall not be liable to the Company or to any other Covered Person for any loss, damage or claim incurred by reason of any act or omission (whether or not constituting negligence or gross negligence) performed or omitted by the Members in good faith, except that a Member shall be liable for any such loss, damage or claim incurred as a result of any breach by such Member of this Agreement. (c) A Covered Person shall be fully protected in relying in good faith upon the records of the Company and upon such information, opinions, reports or statements presented to the Company by any Person as to matters the Covered Person reasonably believes are within the professional or expert competence of such Person and who or which has been selected with reasonable care by or on behalf of the Company, including information, opinions, reports or statements as to the value and amount of the assets, liabilities, profits, losses, or any other facts pertinent to the existence and amount of assets from which distributions to the Members might properly be paid. 16.2 Duties and Liabilities of Covered Persons. (a) The provisions of this Agreement, to the extent that they restrict the duties and liabilities of a Covered Person otherwise existing at law or in equity, are agreed by the Members to replace such other duties and liabilities of such Covered Person. (b) To the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, including Section 18-1101(c) of the Delaware Act, and notwithstanding any duty otherwise existing at law or in equity, each Member and each Manager and, to the extent applicable, each other Cover
action or matter that would be in contravention of the provisions of Section 5.3, and in each such case no interests other than the interests of the Company shall be considered by such Member, Manager or Covered Person, as the case may be. (c) To the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, including Section 18-1101(c) of the Delaware Act, other than as provided in Section 16.2(b) or as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, no Covered Person shall owe any fiduciary duties (including the duty of care and the duty of loyalty) to the Company or any other Covered Person in the performance of their duties and exercising their rights hereunder or otherwise. (d) Except in the cases set forth in Section 16.2(b), whenever in this Agreement a Covered Person is permitted or required to make a decision in its “discretion” or under a grant of similar authority or latitude, the Covered Person shall be entitled to consider, in



 

14 addition to the Company’s best interests, such interests and factors as it desires, including its own interests, and shall have no duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting, any other Person. (e) The provisions of this Section 16.2 shall not eliminate the implied contractual covenant of good faith and fair dealing under applicable Law. (f) All provisions of this Section 16 shall apply to any former Member or Manager of the Company for all actions or omissions taken while such Person was the Member or a Manager, as applicable, of the Company to the same extent as if such Person were still the Member or a Manager, as applicable, of the Company. 16.3 Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any Covered Person shall be entitled to indemnification from the Company for any loss, damage or claim incurred by such Covered Person by reason of any act or omission (whether or not constituting negligence) performed or omitted by such Covered Person in good faith on behalf of the Company (and in the case of any Member, solely in its capacity as a Member of the Company) and in a manner reasonably believed to be within the scope of authority conferred on such Covered Person by this Agreement, except that no Covered Person (other than the Members acting solely in their capacities as Members) shall be entitled to be indemnified in respect of any loss, damage or claim incurred by such Covered Person by reason of gross negligence or willful misconduct with respect to such acts or omissions; provided, however, that any indemnity under this Section 16 shall be provided out of, and to the extent of, Company assets only, and no Covered Person shall have any personal liability on account thereof; provided, further, that no such indemnification shall be provided in respect of any act or omission of any Member that would constitute a breach by such Member of this Agreement or any Material Agreement. 16.4 Expenses. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, reasonable, documented out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable attorney fees) incurred by a Covered Person in defending any claim, demand, action, suit or proceeding in which such Covered Person is a party or is otherwise involved in its capacity as a Covered Person shall, from
such amount if it shall be determined that the Covered Person is not entitled to be indemnified as authorized in this Section 16. 17. Amendment; Waivers. 17.1 No amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless set forth in writing and duly executed by all Members, and any such amendment or modification shall be binding on all the parties. 17.2 No waiver by any party of any of the provisions hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the party so waiving. No waiver by any party



 

15 shall operate or be construed as a waiver in respect of any failure, breach or default not expressly identified by such written waiver, whether of a similar or different character, and whether occurring before or after that waiver. No failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, power or privilege arising from this Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege. 18. Dissolution. 18.1 Subject to Sections 5.4 and 18.4, the Company shall be dissolved, and its affairs shall be wound up upon the first to occur of the following: (a) the Consent of the Members, (b) at any time there are no Members of the Company, unless the Company is continued in accordance with Section 18-801(a)(4) of the Delaware Act, or (c) the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution under Section 18-802 of the Delaware Act, following any action with respect thereto taken by the Members pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 18.2 In the event of dissolution, the Company shall conduct only such activities as are necessary to wind up its affairs (including the sale of the assets of the Company in an orderly manner), and the assets of the Company shall be applied in the manner, and in the order of priority, set forth in Section 18-804 of the Delaware Act. 18.3 The Company shall terminate when (a) all of the assets of the Company (after payment of or due provision for all debts, liabilities and obligations of the Company as described in Section 18.2 and in Section 18-804 of the Delaware Act) shall have been distributed to the Members in the manner provided for in this Agreement and the Delaware Act and (b) the Certificate shall have been canceled in the manner required by the Delaware Act. 18.4 Upon the occurrence of any event that causes any Member to cease to be a Member of the Company (other than upon a Transfer by the Member of all of its Interests in the Company and the admission of the Transferee pursuant to Section 10), the remaining Member(s) shall, without any action of any Person and simultaneously with the Member ceasing to be a member of the Company, continue the Company w
power that such Person might have to cause the Company or any of its assets to be partitioned, to cause the appointment of a receiver for all or any portion of the assets of the Company, to compel any sale of all or any portion of the assets of the Company pursuant to any applicable Law or to file a complaint or to institute any proceeding at law or in equity to cause the dissolution, liquidation, winding up or termination of the Company. The Members shall not have any interest in any specific assets of the Company, and the Members shall not have the status of a creditor with respect to any distribution pursuant to Section 9. The Interest of any Member in the Company is personal property.



 

16 20. Certain Defined Terms. In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, for purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the corresponding meanings set forth below: “Affiliate” of any Person means another Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, Controls, is Controlled by or is under common Control with, such first Person; provided that, for purposes of this Agreement, the Company shall not be deemed to be an Affiliate of any Member. “Business Day” means any day other than (a) a Saturday or Sunday or (b) a day on which banking institutions located in New York City are permitted or required by applicable Law to remain closed. “Contracts” means any loan or credit agreement, bond, debenture, note, mortgage, indenture, lease, supply agreement, license agreement, development agreement, distribution agreement or other legally binding contract, agreement, obligation, commitment, arrangement, understanding, instrument, permit, franchise or license, whether oral or written. “Control” including its various tenses and derivatives (such as “Controlled” and “Controlling”) means (a) when used with respect to any Person, the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such entity, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise, and (b) when used with respect to any security, the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to vote, or to direct the voting of, such security or the power to dispose of, or to direct the disposition of, such security. “Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, local, supranational or foreign government, any court, administrative, regulatory or other governmental agency, commission or authority or any non-governmental self-regulatory agency, commission or authority. “Law” means any federal, state, local, supranational or foreign constitution, convention, treaty, law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, interpretation, guidance document, directive, policy, order, writ, award, decree, injunction, judgment, stay or restraining order of any Governmental Authority, and any other ruling or decision of, agreement with or by, or any other requirement of, any Governmental Authority. “Person” means an individual, corporation
Company or (c) any Affiliates of any of the foregoing. 21. Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to an Article, a Section, Exhibit or Schedule, such reference shall be to an Article of, a Section of, or an Exhibit or Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement, or in any Exhibit or Schedule hereto are for reference purposes only and shall not



 

17 affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, or such Exhibit or Schedule. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to a “party” or to “parties” shall be references to a party or the parties hereto. Whenever the words “include”, “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” The word “or,” when used in this Agreement, has the inclusive meaning represented by the phrase “and/or.” The words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. References to the “date hereof” refer to the date of this Agreement. “Extent” in the phrase “to the extent” means the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase does not mean simply “if.” All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any Exhibit or Schedule to this Agreement, and in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term. Any Contract or statute defined or referred to herein or in any Contract that is referred to herein means (a) in the case of any statute, such statute and any comparable statute that from time to time replaces such statute by succession and (b) in the case of any Contract, such Contract and all amendments, modifications and attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein. References to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns. 22. Governing Law. This Agreement and any dispute, controversy or claim arising hereunder on in connection herewith shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal Laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and to be performed entirely within such State, without regard to the conflicts of law principles that would otherwise require the applicable of the Laws of a jurisdiction other than the State of New York; provided that the Laws of the State of Delaware shall apply hereto with respect to matters governed by t
jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware. 23. Jurisdiction. 23.1 Each party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of (a) the state courts of New York located in New York County, and (b) the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, for the purposes of any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of this Agreement. Each party agrees to commence any such action, suit or proceeding either in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York or if such suit, action or other proceeding may not be brought in such court for jurisdictional reasons, in the state courts of New York located in New York County. Each party further agrees that service of any process, summons, notice or document by the U.S. registered mail to such party’s respective address set forth pursuant to Section 24 shall be effective service of process for any action, suit or proceeding in New York with respect to any matters to which it has submitted to jurisdiction in this Section 23. Each party irrevocably and unconditionally waives any objection to the laying of venue of any action, suit or proceeding arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby in (i) the state courts of New York located in New York County, and (ii)



 

18 the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and hereby and thereby further irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to plead or claim in any such court that any such action, suit or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. 23.2 EACH PARTY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL OF ANY ISSUE BY JURY. Each party (a) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of the other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such party would not, in the event of any action, suit or proceeding, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver and (b) acknowledges that it and the other party has been induced to enter into this Agreement, by, among other things, the mutual waiver and certifications in this Section 23.2. 23.3 Except for any express right to indemnity providing otherwise under any Material Agreement or in this Agreement, each party waives (a) with the exception of relief mandated by statute, any claim to punitive, exemplary, or multiplied damages and (b) any claim for attorney fees, costs and prejudgment interest. 23.4 The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur and that the parties would not have any adequate remedy at law in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in the state courts of New York located in New York County, and the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity and as further set forth in this Section 23. 24. Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given and received (a) upon receipt, if delivered personally, (b) three Business Days after deposit in the mail, if sent by registered or certified mail, (c) on the next Business Day after deposit with an overnight courier, if sent by overnight courier, (d) upon transmission, if sent by facsimile or email transmission prior to 6:00 p.m., local time, in the place of receipt and receipt is
communication is sent to the address, facsimile number or email address set forth beneath the name of such Member in Schedule A (or to such other address, facsimile number or email address as such Member shall have specified in a written notice to the other Members and the Company, as a result of which Schedule A shall be automatically amended) and, in the case of the Company, to the address, facsimile number or email address determined in accordance with Section 2. 25. Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the documents and agreements contemplated in this Agreement constitute the entire agreement with the Members with regard to the subject matter hereof and thereof.



 

19 26. Benefits. Except as expressly provided herein, this Agreement is entered into for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Members and will not be interpreted in such a manner as to give rise to or create any rights or benefits of or for any Person not a party hereto. 27. Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible. 28. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic transmission in .pdf, .tiff or any similar format), all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party. [Remainder of page left intentionally blank; Signature page follows]



 

Signature Page to Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Quell Intellectual Property Corp., LLC IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have duly executed this Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement as of the day and year first written above. MEMBER: NEUROMETRIX, INC. By: Name: Title: PRIOR MEMBER: GSK CONSUMER HEALTHCARE SARL By: Name: Title:



 

SCHEDULE A MEMBERS Member Name Mailing Address Percentage of Working Capital Contributions Membership Interest NeuroMetrix NeuroMetrix, Inc. 4b Gill St. Woburn, MA 01801 Attention: Shai N. Gozani Fax: 781-663-3820 Email: Shai_Gozani@neurometrix.com 100% 100%



 

Annex F Initial SEC Filing Item 1.02 Termination of a Material Definitive Agreement On June xx, 2021 NeuroMetrix, Inc. (the “Company” or “NeuroMetrix”) entered into a Termination Agreement with GSK Consumer Healthcare SARL, (formerly known as GSK Consumer Healthcare S.A. and as Novartis Consumer Health S.A.), a societe’ à responsabilité limitée organized under the laws of Switzerland (“GSK”), pursuant to which the parties terminated the Development and Services Agreement dated January 12, 2018, as amended on December 6, 2018, and related agreements which provided GSK with license and intellectual property rights for the development, regulatory approval and commercialization of the Quell technology for markets outside the United States. Under terms of the Termination Agreement, GSK transferred back to NeuroMetrix all of GSK’s rights, title and interest in the Quell technology related to markets outside the United States, including technology improvements and intellectual property. NeuroMetrix agreed to make royalty payments to GSK ranging between 5% and 8% for a ten-year period based on net sales of Quell devices that are available to consumers for purchase without a prescription from a licensed medical professional in markets outside the United States. A copy of the Termination Agreement will be filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021.



 

Execution version NY: 1289550-3 BILL OF SALE This BILL OF SALE (this “Bill of Sale”) is made as of June ___, 2021, between GSK Consumer Healthcare SARL, a société à responsabilité limitée organized under the laws of Switzerland (“GSK”), and NeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“NeuroMetrix”). W I T N E S S E T H WHEREAS, GSK and NeuroMetrix have entered into that certain Termination Agreement, dated as of June ___, 2021 (the “Termination Agreement”), pursuant to which GSK has agreed to convey, deliver, transfer and assign to NeuroMetrix all right, title and interest in, to and under all of the Transferred Assets in consideration of the royalty payments to be made by and the other covenants of, NeuroMetrix under the Termination Agreement, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein. NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, GSK and NeuroMetrix, intending to be legally bound hereby, do hereby agree as follows: 1. Defined Terms; Interpretation. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Termination Agreement. This Bill of Sale shall be interpreted in accordance with the rules of construction set forth in Section 1.2 of the Termination Agreement. 2. Transfer and Assignment of Assets. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of the Termination Agreement, GSK does hereby convey, deliver, transfer and assign to NeuroMetrix and its successors and assigns, and NeuroMetrix does hereby take delivery of and acquire from GSK, all of GSK’s right, title and interest in, to and under the Transferred Assets. 3. Construction; Successors. Nothing contained in this Bill of Sale shall in any way supersede, modify, replace, amend, change, rescind, waive, exceed, expand, enlarge or in any way affect the provisions set forth in the Termination Agreement nor shall this Bill of Sale reduce, expand or enlarge any remedies under the Termination Agreement. This Bill of Sale is intended only to effect the assignment, transfer, conveyance and delivery of the Transferred Assets by GSK to NeuroMetrix pursuant to the Termination Agreement and shall be governed entirely in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Termination Agr
Law; Amendment. THIS BILL OF SALE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, REGARDLESS OF THE APPLICABLE LAWS THAT MIGHT OTHERWISE GOVERN UNDER APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF APPLICABLE LAWS THEREOF. This Bill of Sale may not be waived or amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto.



 

5. Counterparts. This Bill of Sale may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic transmission in .pdf, .tiff or any similar format), all of which shall be considered one and the same Bill of Sale and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party. [Signature Page Follows]



 

[Signature Page to Bill of Sale] IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Bill of Sale to be executed as of the date first written above. GSK CONSUMER HEALTHCARE SARL By: Name: Title: NEUROMETRIX, INC. By: Name: Title: Electronically signed by: Isabelle Gundel Reason: I am signing for the reasons as stated in the document. Date: Jun 30, 2021 11:38 GMT+2 Senior Patent Attorney Isabelle Gundel Electronically signed by: Mark van Emst Reason: I am signing for the reasons as stated in the document. Date: Jun 30, 2021 12:45 GMT+2 Legal Director Mark van Emst



 

Execution version NY: 1289561-3 PATENT ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT This PATENT ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made as of June ___, 2021, between GSK Consumer Healthcare SARL, a société à responsabilité limitée organized under the laws of Switzerland (“Assignor”), and NeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Assignee”) (each, a “Party” and together, the “Parties”). WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Termination Agreement between Assignor and Assignee, dated as of June ___, 2021 (the “Termination Agreement”), among other things, Assignor has agreed to convey, deliver, transfer and assign to Assignee all right, title and interest in, to and under all of the Transferred Assets, including the patents and patent rights listed on Annex A hereto (collectively, the “Assigned Patents”); and WHEREAS, the Parties agreed to enter into this Agreement pursuant to which Assignor shall assign to Assignee all of Assignor’s right, title and interest in, to and under the Assigned Patents. NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 1. Defined Terms; Interpretation. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Termination Agreement. This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the rules of construction set forth in Section 1.2 of the Termination Agreement. 2. Assignment. Assignor hereby conveys, delivers, transfers and assigns to Assignee, its successors and assigns, all of Assignor’s right, title and interest in, to and under the Assigned Patents, including the priority claim, if any, in the Assigned Patents, and any continuations, continuations-in-part, divisionals, reissues, reexaminations and renewals thereof, corresponding supplementary protection certificates and the like and extensions thereof. 3. Due Authorization. Assignor hereby authorizes and requests any official of any state or foreign country whose duty it is to issue intellectual property registrations, to issue all registrations from any applications for registration included in the Assigned Patents to Assignee. 4. Construction; Successors. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall in any way supersede, modify, replace, amend, change, rescind, waive, exceed, e
governed entirely in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Termination Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of Assignor, Assignee and their respective successors and assigns in accordance with the terms of the Termination Agreement. 5. Governing Law; Amendment. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, REGARDLESS OF THE APPLICABLE LAWS



 

2 THAT MIGHT OTHERWISE GOVERN UNDER APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF APPLICABLE LAWS THEREOF. This Agreement may not be waived or amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the Parties. 6. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic transmission in .pdf, .tiff or any similar format), all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the Parties and delivered to the other Party. [Signature Page Follows]



 

[Signature Page to Patent Assignment Agreement] IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Patent Assignment Agreement on the date set forth above. ASSIGNOR: GSK CONSUMER HEALTHCARE SARL By: Name: Title: ASSIGNEE: NEUROMETRIX, INC. By: Name: Title: Electronically signed by: Isabelle Gundel Reason: I am signing for the reasons as stated in the document. Date: Jun 30, 2021 11:35 GMT+2 Senior Patent Attorney Isabelle Gundel Electronically signed by: Mark van Emst Reason: I am signing for the reasons as stated in the document. Date: Jun 30, 2021 12:42 GMT+2 Legal Director Mark van Emst



 

Annex A Assigned Patents



 

Execution version SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT OF QUELL INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CORP., LLC THIS SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) of QUELL INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CORP., LLC (the “Company”) is entered into as of June ___, 2021, by NeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“NeuroMetrix”), as the member of the Company (the “Member” and, collectively with any other person or entity that may be admitted as a member of the Company, the “Members”). W I T N E S S E T H WHEREAS, the Company was formed as a limited liability company pursuant to and in accordance with the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act (6 Del. C. § 18-101 et seq.), as amended from time to time (the “Delaware Act”), by the filing of a Certificate of Formation with the Secretary of the State of the State of Delaware on December 21, 2017 (the “Certificate”) and the adoption of the initial Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company on the same date; WHEREAS, NeuroMetrix and GSK Consumer Healthcare SARL, a société à responsabilité limitée organized under the laws of Switzerland formerly known as Novartis Consumer Health S.A., a société anonyme organized under the laws of Switzerland (“GSK”) entered into the Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company on January 12, 2018 (the “Original Agreement”); WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Termination Agreement, dated June ___, 2021 (the “Termination Agreement”), by and between GSK and NeuroMetrix, GSK has agreed to transfer, and effective as of the date hereof and pursuant to a Bill of Sale dated as of the date hereof GSK has transferred, all of its membership interests in the Company, representing 50% of the total membership interests in the Company, to NeuroMetrix, and NeuroMetrix agreed to purchase, and as of the date hereof has accepted the transfer of, all of such membership interests in the Company from GSK; and WHEREAS, as a result of the foregoing, NeuroMetrix desires to amend and restate the Original Agreement in its entirety, in the manner set out in this Agreement to, among other things, reflect that GSK ceased t
Name. The name of the limited liability company is Quell Intellectual Property Corp., LLC. The business of the Company may be conducted under that name or, upon compliance with applicable Law, any other name that the Members deem appropriate or advisable, other than any



 

2 name or trade name belonging to either Member, and in any case as approved by Consent of the Members. 2. Principal Business Office; Registered Agent. The principal business office of the Company shall be located at 1000 Winter Street, Waltham, MA 02451, or such other location as may hereafter be determined by Consent of the Members. The location of the Company’s principal place of business may be changed at any time and from time to time by Consent of the Members. The name and address of the registered agent for service of process for the Company in the State of Delaware shall be the Corporation Service Company, 251 Little Falls Drive, City of Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware, or such other agent as may be designated by Consent of the Members. 3. Purpose. 3.1 The Company is formed for the sole object and purpose of, and the sole nature of the business to be conducted and promoted by the Company is: (a) to hold all Contributed Assets, as defined in, and as contributed to the Company by NeuroMetrix pursuant to, that certain Contribution Agreement dated December 21, 2017 (the “Contribution Agreement”), and to engage in any activities and transactions related thereto; (b) to own, hold, manage and defend, all of the Contributed Assets; (c) to license to NeuroMetrix certain of the Contributed Assets pursuant to certain license agreements entered into with NeuroMetrix on December 21, 2017 (collectively, the “License Agreements”); (d) to pay the organizational, start-up and routine transactional and maintenance expenses of the Company, including the creation, assumption or incurrence of obligations to pay service providers to the Company and other ordinary course expenses of maintaining its existence and carrying out its various purposes under this Agreement; (e) to accept capital contributions from time to time from the Members; and (f) subject to Section 5, to engage in any lawful act or activity which is incidental to and reasonably necessary or convenient for the accomplishment of the foregoing purposes (including the establishment of bank accounts, the undertaking of any and all commercially reasonable actions to defend the Contributed Assets against any infringement as contemplated by the Material Agreements or any breach of any of the Material Agreements by
the other Member(s)). 3.2 The Company, by or through both Members acting collectively or, subject to the Consent of the Members, by any Manager on behalf of the Company, may enter into and



 

3 perform the obligations set forth under the Material Agreements to which it is a party and all documents, agreements, certificates, or financing statements contemplated thereby or related thereto, and establish one or more bank accounts. For purposes of this Agreement, “Material Agreements” shall mean (a) the Contribution Agreement and (b) the License Agreements. 3.3 Notwithstanding any provision hereof or any other document governing the formation, management or operation of the Company to the contrary, the Company shall be a “special purpose entity” and shall not perform any act or permit any act to be performed that would be inconsistent with its status as a special purpose entity. 4. Members. 4.1 The name and the mailing address of each Member are as set forth on Schedule A. The Members shall hold membership interests in the Company in the percentages set forth on Schedule A (“Interests”), as such schedule may be amended from time to time by Consent of the Members. 4.2 The Members shall have the power to exercise any and all rights and powers granted to the Members pursuant to the express terms of this Agreement. 4.3 The Members acknowledge and agree that (a) as of the date hereof, and subject to the terms of the Termination Agreement (including the releases contained in Section 5 thereof), GSK has ceased to be a Member of the Company, and (b) the terms of this Agreement shall not apply to GSK other than (i) for purposes of acknowledging such cessation of status as a Member and (ii) as provided in Section 16. 5. Powers of the Company and the Members. 5.1 Subject to this Section 5, the Company (a) shall have the power and authority to take any and all actions necessary, appropriate, advisable, convenient or incidental to, or for the furtherance of, the purposes set forth in Section 3, (b) shall have and exercise all of the powers and rights conferred upon limited liability companies formed pursuant to the Delaware Act and (c) shall be represented in the taking of such actions by the Managers, in accordance with Section 6, or otherwise as determined by Consent of the Members. 5.2 Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or as otherwise expressly authorized or delegated by Consent of the Members, and notwithstanding any provision of Law that otherwise so emp
take any action or perform any act without the prior Consent of the Members. For purposes of this Agreement, “Consent of the Members” shall mean the unanimous written approval of all Members. 5.3 The Members and the Managers shall cause the Company to do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep in full force and effect its existence, rights (charter and statutory) and franchises; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to preserve any such right or franchise if all the Members shall determine that the preservation thereof is no longer desirable for the conduct of the Company’s business and that the loss thereof



 

4 is not disadvantageous in any material respect to the Company and is not otherwise inconsistent with the terms, obligations and limitations contained herein. The Members and the Managers shall also cause the Company at all times to: (a) remain solvent and pay its debts and liabilities (including, as applicable, fairly allocated obligations in connection with personnel and overhead expenses) from its assets as they become due; (b) subject to Section 5.4(r), maintain an arm’s-length relationship in all dealings with the Members and their respective Affiliates, and only upon terms and conditions that are intrinsically fair and substantially similar to those that would be available at an arm’s-length basis with Third Parties; (c) hold itself out to the public and all other Persons, and identify itself, as a legal entity separate from each of the Members, their respective Affiliates or any other Person, and otherwise not identify itself as a division or part of another Person, including any Member and any of its respective Affiliates, and correct any known misunderstanding regarding its status as a separate entity; (d) maintain adequate financial statements, books, records, bank accounts and other business records (including stationery and invoices) separate and apart from those of any of the Members and their respective Affiliates; (e) allocate fairly and reasonably any shared expenses, including shared office space; (f) act and conduct its business solely in its own name, whether directly or through any agent, without confusing use of any trade names related to any of the Members and their respective Affiliates, or any other Third Party; (g) file its own tax returns (unless prohibited by applicable Law from doing so) and other public documents and filings, separate and apart from any such returns, documents or filings of any of the Members or any of their respective Affiliates or any other Person; (h) strictly comply with all organizational and corporate formalities necessary to maintain its separate existence, and conduct itself so as to avoid any other grounds for exposure as an alter ego of any of the Members or any of their respective Affiliates; (i) preserve its existence as an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under Delaware Law; (j) maintain adequate capital in light of its contemplated business purpose, opera
in each case subject to the approval requirements set forth in this



 

5 Agreement, and keep minutes of such meetings and actions and observe all other Delaware limited liability company formalities; and (l) cause the Managers, agents and other representatives of the Company to act at all times with respect to the Company consistently and in furtherance of the foregoing and in the best interests of the Company. 5.4 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement and any provision of Law, the Company shall not (and the Members, any Manager or any other Person shall not cause the Company to), without the Consent of the Members: (a) enter into any Contract or any transaction or series of related transactions with any Person (including with any Member or Affiliate thereof); (b) institute or file any proceedings to have the Company be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent, or consent to the institution or filing of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against the Company, or file a petition seeking, or consent to, reorganization or relief with respect to the Company under any applicable federal or state Law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, relief from debts or the protection of debtors, or seek or consent to the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator, custodian (or other similar official) of the Company or a substantial part of its property, or make any assignment for the benefit of creditors of the Company, or take any action that is intended to cause the Company to become insolvent, or declare or effectuate a moratorium on the payment of any of the Company’s obligations, or take any action in furtherance of any of the foregoing; (c) admit in writing the Company’s inability to pay its debts generally as they become due; (d) dissolve or liquidate; (e) change its legal structure, or change its corporate type or otherwise convert its legal status or cease to be a limited liability company; (f) take any action that is inconsistent with the classification of the Company as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes or revoke any election to that effect; (g) incur any indebtedness, or assume or guarantee any indebtedness of any other Person, whether secured or unsecured, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent; (h) grant or suffer to exist any lien, security interest or other encumbrances on any of its assets, for its own behalf or for the benefit of any Member
indebtedness of any other Person, or hold out its credit as being available to satisfy the



 

6 obligations of any other Person, including any of the Members and any of their respective Affiliates; (j) issue any additional Interest in the Company; (k) acquire any securities or other obligations of any of the Members, any of their respective Affiliates or any other Person; (l) engage in any business other than as set forth in Section 3; (m) commingle or pool Company funds and assets with those of any of the Members, their respective Affiliates, or any other Person; (n) own any assets or property other than (i) the Contributed Assets, and (ii) incidental personal and intangible property related to the ownership of the Contributed Assets; (o) own any subsidiary or make an investment in any Person; (p) fail to do or cause to be done all things necessary to observe organizational formalities and preserve its existence, or amend, modify, or otherwise change the organizational documents of the Company; (q) permit any of the Members or any of their respective Affiliates independent access to its bank accounts; (r) except for the Material Agreements, engage in any transaction with any of the Members or any of their respective Affiliates; (s) initiate any litigation; or (t) take any action in furtherance of any of the foregoing, or agree to do any of the foregoing. 5.5 Failure of the Company, any Member, any Manager or any other Person acting on behalf of the Company, to comply with any of the foregoing provisions in this Section 5 or any other covenants contained in this Agreement shall not affect the status of the Company as a separate legal entity or the limited liability of the Members or the Managers. 6. Management. 6.1 Managers. (a) Appointment. The Company may have one or more managers (each, a “Manager”), to act on behalf of the Company as such powers may be delegated or authorized only by Consent of the Members. Any Managers shall be designated by Consent of the Members.



 

7 (b) Removal. Each Manager shall serve until removed and such Manager’s successor is duly designated and qualified or until such Manager’s earlier death, retirement or incapacity. Any Manager may be removed with or without cause by the Member with the right to designate such Manager. Any Manager so removed shall be replaced by a Manager designated by the Member with the right to designate the removed Manager. (c) Resignation. Any Manager may resign at any time by delivering his resignation to the Members in writing or by electronic transmission, such resignation to specify whether it will be effective at a particular time, upon receipt by the Members or at the pleasure of the Members. If no such specification is made, it shall be deemed effective at the pleasure of the Members. Any Manager so resigning shall be replaced by a Manager designated by the Member with the right to designate the resigning Manager. (d) Compensation; Expenses. The Managers shall not be entitled to any compensation; provided that the Managers may be paid their reasonable, documented out-of- pocket expenses, if any, incurred in connection with performing their duties. (e) Managers as Agents. The Managers shall have only those powers and shall perform only those actions as may be authorized or delegated by Consent of the Members, and in such event the Managers shall be agents of the Company for the purpose of the Company’s business, and the actions of the Managers taken in accordance with such powers shall bind the Company. Notwithstanding the last sentence of Section 18-402 of the Delaware Act, except as provided in this Agreement, a Manager may not bind the Company. 6.2 Meetings of the Members. (a) Time and Place. The Members may hold meetings, both regular and special, within or outside the State of Delaware. Regular meetings of the Members may be held without notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to time be determined by Consent of the Members. Special meetings of the Members may be called by any Member on not less than seventy-two hours’ notice to each other Member by telephone, facsimile, mail, electronic transmission or any other means of communication. (b) Quorum; Actions of the Members. At all meetings of the Members, the presence of all Membe
present at any meeting, the Members present at such meeting may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Members may be taken without a meeting if all of the Members consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Members. (c) Electronic Communications. Members may participate in meetings by means of telephone conference or similar communications equipment that allows all Persons participating in the meeting to hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in Person at the meeting. If all the participants are participating by telephone



 

8 conference or similar communications equipment, the meeting shall be deemed to be held at the principal place of business of the Company. 6.3 Subject to the Consent of the Members, (a) the Company may appoint, employ, or otherwise contract with such other Persons for the transaction of the business of the Company or the performance of services for, or on behalf of, the Company as the Members shall determine, subject to the terms and limitations contained herein and (b) the Members may delegate to any such other Person, such authority to act on behalf of the Company as the Members may from time to time deem appropriate. The agents of the Company shall not be entitled to salaries or other compensation, unless otherwise approved with the Consent of the Members. 7. Capital Contributions. 7.1 The Members shall be required to make additional capital contributions, from time to time, sufficient to cover the expenses related to the maintenance of the Company and its assets, pro rata in accordance with their Interests and in such amounts as shall be determined by the Members (each, a “Working Capital Contribution” and, together with any other capital contribution to the Company, the “Capital Contributions”). In the event that any Member (a “Contributing Member”), in its reasonable judgment, determines that a Working Capital Contribution would be necessary to cover the expenses described in this Section 7.1, the Contributing Member shall give notice of such determination to the other Member(s) (a “Contribution Notice”), specifying the aggregate amount of the proposed Working Capital Contribution and the pro rata portion to be so contributed by such other Member(s) (each, a “Notified Member”), and such Notified Member(s) shall be required to make its (their) respective pro rata portion of such Working Capital Contributions within 20 days following receipt of such Contribution Notice. In case a Notified Member fails to make such pro rata share of a Working Capital Contribution within such 20-day period, the Contributing Member shall be entitled to make such Capital Contribution itself in lieu of such Notified Member and, in case such Working Capital Contributions are finally determined to have been necessary in accordance with Section 23, the Contributing Member shall be entitled to
equal to the prime interest rate published in The Wall Street Journal on the date such interest begins accruing. 7.2 Other than the Working Capital Contributions as set forth in Section 7.1, the Members may (with the Consent of the Members), but are not required to, make any additional Capital Contribution or otherwise provide any additional funds to the Company. To the extent that the Members make any additional Capital Contribution to the Company (including any amounts made pursuant to Section 7.1), the Members shall revise the books and records of the Company to reflect such Capital Contribution. The provisions of this Agreement, including this Section 7.2, are intended to benefit the Members and, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, shall not be construed as conferring any benefit upon any creditor of the Company (and no other creditor of the Company shall be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement). The Members shall not have any duty or obligation to any creditor of the Company



 

9 to make any Capital Contribution to the Company or to issue any call for capital pursuant to this Agreement. 7.3 No Member shall have the right to receive the return of all or any part of any Capital Contribution or capital account, or any other distribution. No Member shall have any right to demand and receive property of the Company in exchange for all or any portion of its Capital Contributions, except as provided in Section 18 upon dissolution and liquidation of the Company. No interest or preferred return shall accrue or be paid on any Capital Contribution or capital account. 8. Tax Status. The Company has elected to be classified as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes from the date of its formation and such election has not been revoked, modified or terminated. The Members shall file all tax returns, information statements and similar documents in accordance with such classification of the Company for all U.S. federal, state and local income tax purposes unless otherwise notified by the Company that the Members have revoked such election in accordance with Section 5.4(f). 9. Distributions. Distributions shall be made to the Members at the times and in the amounts determined by Consent of the Members; provided that no distribution shall be made in violation of the Delaware Act. 10. Transfers of Interests. 10.1 No Member shall transfer, sell, assign, exchange, pledge, hypothecate, encumber, grant a security interest in or lien over, gift or otherwise dispose of in any manner, whether voluntary or involuntary, directly or indirectly, any legal, beneficial or other interest in (any of the foregoing actions, a “Transfer,” with correlative meanings given to the terms “Transferring,” “Transferred,” “Transferee” and “Transferor”), any Interest in the Company, except in accordance with the provisions of this Section 10. 10.2 Notwithstanding any other provision in this Section 10, no Member shall be permitted to (a) pledge, hypothecate or encumber (i) any or all Interests in the Company owned by such Member or (ii) any direct or indirect legal or beneficial ownership interest of any form or type in such Member’s Interests or (b) grant any form of security interest in (i) Interests in the Company owned by such Member or (ii) any direct or indirect legal or beneficial ownership interest of any form or typ
institutional investor or any other Person. 10.3 Any Transfer permitted by this Section 10 shall be subject to the following:



 

10 (a) No Transfer of any Interest in the Company may be made if such Transfer would cause or result in a breach of any Contract binding upon the Company or of then applicable rules and regulations of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over such Transfer. (b) In the event of any Transfer, (i) there shall be filed with the Company a duly executed and acknowledged counterpart instrument effecting such Transfer, and (ii) the Transferee shall execute a counterpart of or other writing agreeing to be bound by this Agreement, and such additional documents and instruments as shall be reasonably required by the Company. The Company shall not recognize any such Transfer unless and until all such instruments are so executed and filed. 10.4 Any attempt by a Member or one or more of its direct or indirect legal or beneficial owners to Transfer any of its Interests in the Company without compliance with Section 10.2 and Section 10.3 shall be null and void ab initio and the Company shall not give any effect to such attempted Transfer in its books and records, and such purported Transferee shall not be recognized or treated as a Member for any purpose. In the event any Member shall at any time Transfer an Interest in the Company in contravention of any of the provisions of this Agreement, then the Company and each other Member shall, in addition to all rights and remedies at law and equity, be entitled to seek, without any requirement to post a bond or other security, a decree or order restraining and enjoining such transaction, and the offending Member shall not plead in defense thereto that there would be an adequate remedy at law; it being expressly hereby acknowledged and agreed by the Members that damages at law would be an inadequate remedy for a breach or threatened breach or other violation of the provisions concerning such transaction set forth in this Agreement. 10.5 Upon any Transfer of any Interest and subject to the execution by the Transferee of a counterpart of or other writing agreeing to be bound by this Agreement, (a) the Transferee, if not already a Member, shall be for all purposes of this Agreement deemed a Member, and (b) the Transferor Member shall cease to be a Member as to the Transferred Interests for all purposes of this Agreement. 11. Withdrawal and Resignation. So lo
the Company, and any such withdrawal or resignation or attempted withdrawal or resignation by a Member prior to the dissolution or winding up of the Company shall be null and void. In furtherance of the foregoing, no Member shall be entitled to any distribution under Section 18-604 of the Delaware Act or any other provision of the Delaware Act whether upon the disassociation of such Member from the Company or otherwise. As soon as any Person who is a Member ceases to hold any Interests, such Person shall no longer be a Member.



 

11 12. Admission of Additional Members. Subject to Section 10, one or more additional Members of the Company may be admitted to the Company with the Consent of the Members. 13. Limited Liability. Except as otherwise expressly provided by the Delaware Act, the debts, obligations and liabilities of the Company, whether arising in contract, tort or otherwise, shall be the debts, obligations and liabilities solely of the Company, and neither the Members nor any Manager shall be obligated personally for any such debt, obligation or liability of the Company solely by reason of being a Member or Manager of the Company. 14. Books and Records. The Managers shall keep or cause to be kept complete and accurate books of account and records with respect to the Company’s business. The books of the Company shall at all times be maintained by the Managers. The Members and their respective duly authorized representatives shall have the right to examine the Company books, records and documents during normal business hours. The Company, and the Managers on behalf of the Company, shall not have the right to keep confidential from the Members any information that the Managers would otherwise be permitted to keep confidential from the Members pursuant to Section 18-305(c) of the Delaware Act. The Company’s books of account shall be kept using the method of accounting determined by the Consent of the Members. The Company’s auditor, if any, shall be a public accounting firm selected by the Consent of the Members. 15. Tax Returns. The Managers shall cause the income tax and information returns, if any, for the Company to be prepared and timely filed with the appropriate authorities. All such tax returns shall be filed in a manner consistent with the classification of the Company pursuant to this Agreement (including any classification other than as a corporation, if applicable, as a result of an election or revocation made in accordance with Section 5.4(f)). The Company shall provide a copy of each such tax return to each Member before filing. 16. Indemnification. 16.1 Exculpation. (a) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Covered Persons” means any Manager, the Members, any Affiliate of a Manager or the Members and any officers, directors, shareholders, equity holders, security ho
Person shall be liable to the Company or any other Covered Person for any loss, damage or claim incurred by reason of any act or omission performed (whether or not constituting negligence) or omitted by such Covered Person in good



 

12 faith on behalf of the Company (and in the case of a Member, solely in its capacity as a Member of the Company) and in a manner reasonably believed to be within the scope of authority conferred on such Covered Person by this Agreement, except that a Covered Person shall be liable for any such loss, damage or claim incurred by reason of such Covered Person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Members, acting solely in their capacities as Members of the Company, shall not be liable to the Company or to any other Covered Person for any loss, damage or claim incurred by reason of any act or omission (whether or not constituting negligence or gross negligence) performed or omitted by the Members in good faith, except that a Member shall be liable for any such loss, damage or claim incurred as a result of any breach by such Member of this Agreement. (c) A Covered Person shall be fully protected in relying in good faith upon the records of the Company and upon such information, opinions, reports or statements presented to the Company by any Person as to matters the Covered Person reasonably believes are within the professional or expert competence of such Person and who or which has been selected with reasonable care by or on behalf of the Company, including information, opinions, reports or statements as to the value and amount of the assets, liabilities, profits, losses, or any other facts pertinent to the existence and amount of assets from which distributions to the Members might properly be paid. 16.2 Duties and Liabilities of Covered Persons. (a) The provisions of this Agreement, to the extent that they restrict the duties and liabilities of a Covered Person otherwise existing at law or in equity, are agreed by the Members to replace such other duties and liabilities of such Covered Person. (b) To the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, including Section 18-1101(c) of the Delaware Act, and notwithstanding any duty otherwise existing at law or in equity, each Member and each Manager and, to the extent applicable, each other Covered Person, shall owe fiduciary duties (including the duty of care and the duty of loyalty) to the Company when acting or otherwise voting on any matter requiring the Consent of the Members pursuant to Section 5.4 or any action or matter that would be
fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, including Section 18-1101(c) of the Delaware Act, other than as provided in Section 16.2(b) or as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, no Covered Person shall owe any fiduciary duties (including the duty of care and the duty of loyalty) to the Company or any other Covered Person in the performance of their duties and exercising their rights hereunder or otherwise. (d) Except in the cases set forth in Section 16.2(b), whenever in this Agreement a Covered Person is permitted or required to make a decision in its “discretion” or under a grant of similar authority or latitude, the Covered Person shall be entitled to consider, in addition to the Company’s best interests, such interests and factors as it desires, including its own interests, and shall have no duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting, any other Person.



 

13 (e) The provisions of this Section 16.2 shall not eliminate the implied contractual covenant of good faith and fair dealing under applicable Law. (f) All provisions of this Section 16 shall apply to any former Member or Manager of the Company for all actions or omissions taken while such Person was the Member or a Manager, as applicable, of the Company to the same extent as if such Person were still the Member or a Manager, as applicable, of the Company. 16.3 Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any Covered Person shall be entitled to indemnification from the Company for any loss, damage or claim incurred by such Covered Person by reason of any act or omission (whether or not constituting negligence) performed or omitted by such Covered Person in good faith on behalf of the Company (and in the case of any Member, solely in its capacity as a Member of the Company) and in a manner reasonably believed to be within the scope of authority conferred on such Covered Person by this Agreement, except that no Covered Person (other than the Members acting solely in their capacities as Members) shall be entitled to be indemnified in respect of any loss, damage or claim incurred by such Covered Person by reason of gross negligence or willful misconduct with respect to such acts or omissions; provided, however, that any indemnity under this Section 16 shall be provided out of, and to the extent of, Company assets only, and no Covered Person shall have any personal liability on account thereof; provided, further, that no such indemnification shall be provided in respect of any act or omission of any Member that would constitute a breach by such Member of this Agreement or any Material Agreement. 16.4 Expenses. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, reasonable, documented out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable attorney fees) incurred by a Covered Person in defending any claim, demand, action, suit or proceeding in which such Covered Person is a party or is otherwise involved in its capacity as a Covered Person shall, from time to time, be advanced by the Company prior to the final disposition of such claim, demand, action, suit or proceeding upon receipt by the Company of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Covered Person to repay such a
binding unless set forth in writing and duly executed by all Members, and any such amendment or modification shall be binding on all the parties. 17.2 No waiver by any party of any of the provisions hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the party so waiving. No waiver by any party shall operate or be construed as a waiver in respect of any failure, breach or default not expressly identified by such written waiver, whether of a similar or different character, and whether occurring before or after that waiver. No failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, power or privilege arising from this Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver



 

14 thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege. 18. Dissolution. 18.1 Subject to Sections 5.4 and 18.4, the Company shall be dissolved, and its affairs shall be wound up upon the first to occur of the following: (a) the Consent of the Members, (b) at any time there are no Members of the Company, unless the Company is continued in accordance with Section 18-801(a)(4) of the Delaware Act, or (c) the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution under Section 18-802 of the Delaware Act, following any action with respect thereto taken by the Members pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 18.2 In the event of dissolution, the Company shall conduct only such activities as are necessary to wind up its affairs (including the sale of the assets of the Company in an orderly manner), and the assets of the Company shall be applied in the manner, and in the order of priority, set forth in Section 18-804 of the Delaware Act. 18.3 The Company shall terminate when (a) all of the assets of the Company (after payment of or due provision for all debts, liabilities and obligations of the Company as described in Section 18.2 and in Section 18-804 of the Delaware Act) shall have been distributed to the Members in the manner provided for in this Agreement and the Delaware Act and (b) the Certificate shall have been canceled in the manner required by the Delaware Act. 18.4 Upon the occurrence of any event that causes any Member to cease to be a Member of the Company (other than upon a Transfer by the Member of all of its Interests in the Company and the admission of the Transferee pursuant to Section 10), the remaining Member(s) shall, without any action of any Person and simultaneously with the Member ceasing to be a member of the Company, continue the Company without dissolution. 19. Waiver of Partition; Nature of Interest. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, each of the Members hereby irrevocably waives any right or power that such Person might have to cause the Company or any of its assets to be partitioned, to cause the appointment of a receiver for all or any porti
dissolution, liquidation, winding up or termination of the Company. The Members shall not have any interest in any specific assets of the Company, and the Members shall not have the status of a creditor with respect to any distribution pursuant to Section 9. The Interest of any Member in the Company is personal property. 20. Certain Defined Terms. In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, for purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the corresponding meanings set forth below:



 

15 “Affiliate” of any Person means another Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, Controls, is Controlled by or is under common Control with, such first Person; provided that, for purposes of this Agreement, the Company shall not be deemed to be an Affiliate of any Member. “Business Day” means any day other than (a) a Saturday or Sunday or (b) a day on which banking institutions located in New York City are permitted or required by applicable Law to remain closed. “Contracts” means any loan or credit agreement, bond, debenture, note, mortgage, indenture, lease, supply agreement, license agreement, development agreement, distribution agreement or other legally binding contract, agreement, obligation, commitment, arrangement, understanding, instrument, permit, franchise or license, whether oral or written. “Control” including its various tenses and derivatives (such as “Controlled” and “Controlling”) means (a) when used with respect to any Person, the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such entity, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise, and (b) when used with respect to any security, the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to vote, or to direct the voting of, such security or the power to dispose of, or to direct the disposition of, such security. “Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, local, supranational or foreign government, any court, administrative, regulatory or other governmental agency, commission or authority or any non-governmental self-regulatory agency, commission or authority. “Law” means any federal, state, local, supranational or foreign constitution, convention, treaty, law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, interpretation, guidance document, directive, policy, order, writ, award, decree, injunction, judgment, stay or restraining order of any Governmental Authority, and any other ruling or decision of, agreement with or by, or any other requirement of, any Governmental Authority. “Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization or other entity or any Governmental Authority. “Third Party” means any Person other than: (a) any M
Section of, or an Exhibit or Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement, or in any Exhibit or Schedule hereto are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, or such Exhibit or Schedule. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to a “party” or to “parties” shall be references to a party or the parties hereto. Whenever the words “include”, “includes” or “including” are



 

16 used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” The word “or,” when used in this Agreement, has the inclusive meaning represented by the phrase “and/or.” The words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. References to the “date hereof” refer to the date of this Agreement. “Extent” in the phrase “to the extent” means the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase does not mean simply “if.” All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any Exhibit or Schedule to this Agreement, and in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term. Any Contract or statute defined or referred to herein or in any Contract that is referred to herein means (a) in the case of any statute, such statute and any comparable statute that from time to time replaces such statute by succession and (b) in the case of any Contract, such Contract and all amendments, modifications and attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein. References to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns. 22. Governing Law. This Agreement and any dispute, controversy or claim arising hereunder on in connection herewith shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal Laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and to be performed entirely within such State, without regard to the conflicts of law principles that would otherwise require the applicable of the Laws of a jurisdiction other than the State of New York; provided that the Laws of the State of Delaware shall apply hereto with respect to matters governed by the Delaware Act or the internal affairs doctrine, or otherwise subject to the provisions of the Delaware Act, without regard to the conflicts of law principles that would otherwise require the applicable of the Laws of a jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware. 23. Jurisdiction. 23.1 Each p
suit, action or other proceeding arising out of this Agreement. Each party agrees to commence any such action, suit or proceeding either in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York or if such suit, action or other proceeding may not be brought in such court for jurisdictional reasons, in the state courts of New York located in New York County. Each party further agrees that service of any process, summons, notice or document by the U.S. registered mail to such party’s respective address set forth pursuant to Section 24 shall be effective service of process for any action, suit or proceeding in New York with respect to any matters to which it has submitted to jurisdiction in this Section 23. Each party irrevocably and unconditionally waives any objection to the laying of venue of any action, suit or proceeding arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby in (i) the state courts of New York located in New York County, and (ii) the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and hereby and thereby further irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to plead or claim in any such court



 

17 that any such action, suit or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. 23.2 EACH PARTY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL OF ANY ISSUE BY JURY. Each party (a) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of the other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such party would not, in the event of any action, suit or proceeding, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver and (b) acknowledges that it and the other party has been induced to enter into this Agreement, by, among other things, the mutual waiver and certifications in this Section 23.2. 23.3 Except for any express right to indemnity providing otherwise under any Material Agreement or in this Agreement, each party waives (a) with the exception of relief mandated by statute, any claim to punitive, exemplary, or multiplied damages and (b) any claim for attorney fees, costs and prejudgment interest. 23.4 The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur and that the parties would not have any adequate remedy at law in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in the state courts of New York located in New York County, and the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity and as further set forth in this Section 23. 24. Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given and received (a) upon receipt, if delivered personally, (b) three Business Days after deposit in the mail, if sent by registered or certified mail, (c) on the next Business Day after deposit with an overnight courier, if sent by overnight courier, (d) upon transmission, if sent by facsimile or email transmission prior to 6:00 p.m., local time, in the place of receipt and receipt is confirmed or (e) on the next Business Day following transmission, if sent by facsimile or email transmission after 6:00 p.m., local time, in the place of receipt and receipt is confirmed; provided tha
Member shall have specified in a written notice to the other Members and the Company, as a result of which Schedule A shall be automatically amended) and, in the case of the Company, to the address, facsimile number or email address determined in accordance with Section 2. 25. Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the documents and agreements contemplated in this Agreement constitute the entire agreement with the Members with regard to the subject matter hereof and thereof.



 

18 26. Benefits. Except as expressly provided herein, this Agreement is entered into for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Members and will not be interpreted in such a manner as to give rise to or create any rights or benefits of or for any Person not a party hereto. 27. Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible. 28. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic transmission in .pdf, .tiff or any similar format), all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party. [Remainder of page left intentionally blank; Signature page follows]
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D., certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NeuroMetrix, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as

of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over

financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its

consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the

period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an

annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of

directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process,

summarize and report financial information; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

 

Date: July 22, 2021 /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH. D.
 Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Thomas T. Higgins, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NeuroMetrix, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as

of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over

financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its

consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the

period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an

annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of

directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process,

summarize and report financial information; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

 

Date: July 22, 2021 /s/ THOMAS T. HIGGINS
 Thomas T. Higgins
 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer



EXHIBIT 32
 

CERTIFICATION
 

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each of the undersigned officers of NeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
"Company"), does hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

 
The Quarterly Report for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 (the "Form 10-Q") of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information
contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

 /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH. D.
 Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
  
  
 /s/ THOMAS T. HIGGINS
 Thomas T. Higgins
 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

  
July 22, 2021

  
This certification is being furnished and not filed, and shall not be incorporated into any document for any purpose, under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securities Act of 1933.


